INSTITUTUL DE MATEMATICA PENTRU CREATIE
STIINTIFICA SI TEHNICA

ISSN 0250-3638

FLOW-INVARIANT SETS FOR AUTONOMOUS SECOND
ORDER DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS AND APPLICATIONS
IN MECHANICS

by

Nicolae H.PAVEL and Corneliu URSESCU
PREPRINT SERIES IN MATHEMATICS
No.18/1980

MSTITUTUL MATIOMAL PENTING OFFICE OF ATTERNACE OF ATTERNA

JUTUTHEMI 10 MATEMATIN

32-986

Great Assertion

MO.

THE PROPERTY

FLOW-INVARIANT SETS FOR AUTONOMOUS SECOND ORDER DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS AND APPLICATIONS IN MECHANICS

by
Nicolae H.PAVEL*) and Corneliu URSESCU*)

April 1980

^{*)} Mathematical Seminarium "A. Myller", The University of Iasi, 6600 Iasi, Romania

RECHTENTARIA DE SEUR FOR ADRONOMES SECONO ORIGEN OFFICETALA ROPALIONE AND ASPLICATIONS ORIGENATOR

(*D303210 #1/96100 ble. "11003.1 secole

0891-33264

ing and the restaurance of the restaurance of the Control of the C

FLOW-INVARIANT SETS FOR AUTONOMOUS SECOND ORDER DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS AND APPLICATIONS IN MECHANICS

by

Nicolae H. Pavel & Corneliu Ursescu

Seminarul Matematic "A.Myller", Universitatea Iași, 6600 ROMANIA

CONTENTS

7 0	Introduction	1
2.	Statement of the main results	4
3.	Preliminaries on tangent sets	12
4.	Proof of the main results	22
5.	Applications in Mechanics	27
5.1.	Geometrical properties of a flow-invariant set	27
5.2.	A generalization of Bonnet's Theorem	32
5.3.	Determination of the field of force under which	26
	a given orbit can be described	35
5.4.	Uniform motions	39
5.5.	The invariance of the conic in Newtonian field	43
5.5.1.	Elliptic orbit	43
5.5.2.	Hyperbolic orbit	44
5.5.3.	Parabolic orbit	
5.5.4.		46
5.5.5.	Central force field	47
5.5.6.	The force fields under which a conic can be	49
	described	
5.	Final remarks	51
	References	54
	TIOT OT CITOGO	

HERORE SHOROKOFUL MUR SELE CRELENGEL-ROLL BESTERBLICHER GRA BROTTARGE FELFREIGERE MERRI COLEMNES HERORES

nession extenses & fover h entonin

ness, ken matetitatetini ""seliva, kr otregalni Jutikitana Primari

2 2 2 4 2 2 2 0 3

And the property of the contract of the contra

1. INTRODUCTION

It is the purpose of this paper to treat the problem of flow-invariance of a set with respect to the autonomous second order differential equation (2.4)(or, to the force field f) and then to give several applications in Mechanics. From the point of view of applications, this theory is important at least for two reasons.

The first one consists in the fact that it unifies many classical results of Mechanics, Indeed, by flow-invariance method (via Theorem 2.4) we can prove e.g. Bonnet's theorem, the equivalence of the first two laws of Kepler to the law of force varying inversely as the square of the distance conceived by Newton, as well as:

A mass particle moving under a central field of force describes an orbit wich lies in a plane. (see Theorem 5.6)

Furthermore, via this method one can determine all "g-smooth"field of force (in the sense of Definition 5.2) under which a given orbit can be described (Theorem 5.3). In this manner the results of Dainelli are derived (Remark 5.6). Finally, the method allows to get several geometrical properties of some particular flow-invariant sets (like the curves whose curvature is different from zero).

The second reason is the following:

This theory allows us to prove that some mathematical characterizations of the motion in R³ or R² remain valid in any Rⁿ(n>3) and even more-in any real Hilbert or Banach space X (see e.g.Theorem 5.4, Remark 5.6 and Theorem 5.2 which asserts that the set of all g-smooth force fields under which D_g can be described is a convex cone). Therefore Theorem 5.2 is a generalization of Bonnet's theorem from R³ to

the real Banach space X. The paper is based on a result (Theorem 2.1) on flow-invariance of a set with respect to the first order differential equation (2.1). In a slightly different form (see Remark 2.1). Theorem 2.1 has been proved by Nagumo [14] and independently by Brezis [4].

A significant generalization of Theorem 2.1 is given by Martin [12]. This result of Martin is extended to the time-dependent closed subsets, in [24]. On this subject the bibliography indicates references to which the interested reader may turn.

This bibliography (e.g. [1], [3], [6], [7], [10], [12], [16-25]) shows that actually, the problem of flow-invariance of a set came to the atention of the people interested in it, after Brezis'paper [4] . The first major application of flow-invariance theory is that given by Bourgouignon and Brezis [3] to the study of Euler's equation (which describes the motion of an incompressible perfect fluid.). Such a theory has been applied also by Abraham and Marsden [1] to Hamiltonian systems as well as in [20] , to get necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of positive solutions. The proof of our results is based on the theory of "tangent sets". This efficient technique has also been used in optimization and control theory. For example, using such a technique, Clarke [6] and Ursescu [27] have obtained significant extentions of the Pontryagin maximum princip le. The idea of the second section goes back to [16] and [21] . The core of the section is the introduction of the subset M_D (by (2.5)). It is shown that for the existence of a D-valued solution u of (2.4) corresponding to the initial dates $u(o) = x \in D$ and $u'(o) = y \in X$, it is necessary that (x,y) & MD (but this is not sufficient). Then the following question arises:

What is the best condition we must add to the hypothesis (x,y)

 \in M_D , in order that the corresponding solution u be D-valued (i.e. $u(t) \in D$ as long as it exists)?

Such a condition is (2.6) (call it "the invariance condition of D under f"). It consists in the requirement that for each $(x,y) \in M_D$, (y,f(x)) be "tangent" to M_D at (x,y). In the case of $D=D_g$ given by (2.7), the "invariance condition of D_g under f" becomes (2.13). This equation (2.13), in important particular cases (Remark 2.2, Remark 5.8) is a partial differential equation in f, which allows the determination of all g-smooth force field f, under which D_g can be described (see (5.28), (5.82)). Therefore the main results of this section are: the way in which the notion of flow-invariance of D is defined ((2.5)) and Definition 2.3), Theorem 2.4 as well as its consequences.

In a slightly different form, M_D and Theorem 2.4 has been presented in [21], but not too efficiently. For applications, the consequences of Theorem 2.4 are useful (as it is shown in §5).

In the third section, several preliminaries on tangent sets are discussed. Such results are used in the proof of those of second section. Some of them seem to be new (e.g. Theorem 3.2, Corollary 3.2, Lemma 3.5, see also Remark 3.2).

In § 4, the results of second section are proved.

Applications of the results of second sections are given in § 5.

Some of these applications has already been discussed at the begining.

In addition we want to point out that (in view of Theorems 5.5 and 5.6) any conic is a flow-invariant set under the Newtonian field of force. Therefore, via flow-invariance method one obtains a qualitative explanation (based on the second law of Dynamics) of the motion of planets as well as of the launching of man-made satellites (Theorem 5.6, Corollary 5.4). Note also that the formula

(1.1)
$$y^2 = -\frac{\dot{g}(x)(f(x))}{c(x)||\dot{g}(x)||}$$
 (c(x)- the curvature of D_g at $x \in D_g$)

appearing in (2.24), is the square magnitude of the speed y of "projection" from $x \in D_g$. More precisely, if f satisfies the invariance condition (2.25)(or(2.27)) of D_g , then a mass particle projected from any point $x \in D_g$ in the tangent direction to D_g at x, with the speed y of square norm (1.1), describes (under the action of the force field f) an orbit which lies in D_g . The formula (1.1) contains in particular, the well-known cosmic speeds (see 5.47), (5.51), (5.63) and is classical too.

The case of the inverse square repulsion (important in physics at the bombardament of atoms by α - particles) is included in this theory, too (see (5.65) and Theorem 5.5). Finally, in the last section 6, some open problems and suggestions for further study are given.

2.STATEMENT OF THE MAIN RESULTS

Let X be a real Banach space of norm $\|\cdot\|$. Throught this paper $A \subset X$ is a nonempty open subset of X and $f \colon A \to X - a$ locally Lipschitz function (i.e. for each $x \in A$, there is a neighborhood of x, on which f is Lipschitz). Let us consider the first order autonomous differential equation:

(2.1)
$$u'(t) = f(u(t)), t \ge 0.$$

Let D be a nonempty subset of A.

The following definition is well-known

Definition 2.1 The set $D \subseteq A$ is said to be a"flow-invariant set" for the equation (2.1) if every solution $u: [0,T) \rightarrow A$ of (2.1) with $u(o) \in D$, verifies $u(t) \in D$ for all $t \in [0,T)$.

In other words,D is said to be a flow-invariant set for (2.1), if every solution of (2.1) starting from D, remains in D as long as it exists.

Definition 2.2. The nonempty set D is said to be closed in A if $D = D \cap A$, where D denotes the closure of D.

Obviously, if $D \subset A$ and $D = \overline{D}$, then D is closed in A (the converse statement is not true).

For z∈ X , denote

(2.2)
$$d[z;D] = \inf \{ ||z - x|| ; x \in D \}$$
.
It is easy to check that

$$(2.2)$$
 | $d[z;D] - d[w;D] \le ||z - w||$, $\ne z, w \in X$

The following theorem is a consequence of a result of Nagumo[14] (independently considered by Brezis [4] and generalized by Martin [12]. See also [24]).

Theorem 2.1 Assume that D is closed in A. Then D is a flow-invariant set for (2.1) iff:

(2.3)
$$\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} d[x + hf(x); D] = 0, \quad \forall x \in D.$$

Remark 2.1 (2.3) means that for each $x \in D$, f(x) is "tangent" to D at x. Theorem 2.1 holds even f is defined (and locally Lipschitz) on D only. In this case Theorem 2.1 is in fact a result of existence rather than a problem of invariance. If $D \subset A$ is closed (in X) and f is globally Lipschitz on D, then "the tangent condition" (2.3), assures the existence (and uniqueness) of solution u to (2.1), on $[0, +\infty) \to D$, $u(0) = x \in D$. See Martin [12]).

In what follows we are concerned with the notion of flow-invariant set for the autonomous second order differential equation

(2.4)
$$u''(t) = f(u(t)), t \ge 0$$

We shall, give necessary and sufficient conditions in order for the solution to the Cauchy problem of (2.4) (determined by the initial condition $u(o) = x, u'(o) = y, x \in D$) to remain in D as long as it exists. To do that we need the following set

(2.5)
$$M_D = \{(x,y) \in A \times X ; \lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h^2} d[x + hy + \frac{h^2}{2} f(x); D] = 0 \}$$

A necessary condition for the existence of a solution $u: [0,T)\to D$ to the equation (2.4) is that $(u(o),u'(o))\in M_D$. This condition is not sufficient (as we shall see in Theorem 2.4 or Theorem 5.4). A first result in this direction is given by

Theorem 2.2 Let u: [0,T) -> A be a solution of the equation (2.4)

- (i) If $u(t) \in D$ for all $t \in [0,T)$, then $(u(t),u'(t)) \in M_D$ for all $t \in [0,T)$.
- (ii) If D is closed in A, then $u(t) \in D$ for all $t \in [0,T)$ iff $(u(t), u'(t)) \in M_D$ for all $t \in [0,T)$.

The proof of this theorem (as well as of all results of this section) is given in section 4. The following definition of a flow-in-variant set for (2.4) is now quiet natural.

Definition 2.3 The set D is said to be a flow-invariant set for (2.4) if M_D is nonempty and if for every solution $u: [0,T) \rightarrow A$ of (2.4) with $(u(0),u'(0)) \in M_D$, we have $(u(t),u'(t)) \in M_D$ for all $t \in [0,T)$.

The result below justifies, both the introduction of \mathbf{M}_{D} and the Definition 2.3.

Theorem 2.3 Assume that D is closed in A. Then D is a flow-invariant set for (2.4) iff M_D is nonempty and every solution $u: [0,T) \rightarrow A$ of (2.4) with $(u(o),u'(o)) \in M_D$ is D-valued (i.e. $u(t) \in D$ for all $t \in [0,T)$).

A direct consequence of Theorem 2.3 is given by

Corollary 2.1 Let D_i, i∈ I be a family of nonempty (closed in A)
sets with each D_i-flow-invariant set for (2.4) where I is a nenempty

set of index). Assume in addition that

$$D = \bigcap_{i \in I} D_i \text{ is nonempty too.Then}$$

$$(*) \ \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{D}} = \bigcap_{\mathbf{i} \in \mathbf{I}} \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{i}}}$$

(2) Moreover, D is flow-invariant set for (2.3) iff MD is a nonempty set.

We now state one of the main results of this paper.

Theorem 2.4 Assume that M_D is closed in AXX. Then D is a flow-invariant set for the equation (2.4) iff M_D is nonempty and

(2.6)
$$\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} d[(x,y) + h(y,f(x)); M_D] = 0, \quad \#(x,y) \in M_D.$$

(i.e iff for each $(x,y) \in M_D$, (y,f(x)) is "tangent" to M_D at (x,y)).

A first simple example of applications of the above result is the following

Theorem 2.5, Let S be a closed linear subspace of X and D=A / S.
Then

(i)
$$M_D = (D \cap f^{-1}(S)) \times S$$

(ii) Assume in addition that $f(D) \subset S_{\bullet} \underline{\text{Then}} \ M_D = D \times S \underline{\text{and}} \ D \underline{\text{is a flow-invariant set for (2.4)}}$

(As usual,
$$f^{-1}(S) = \{z \in X; f(z) \in S\}$$
 and $f(D) = \{f(x); x \in D\}$).

Next we are interested to examine (2.5) and (2.6) in significant particular cases.

Let Y be a real normed space (who's norm is denoted by $\|\cdot\|$, too). We shall give some consequences of Theorem 2.4 in the case which

(2.7)
$$D = D_g = \{x \in A, g(x) = 0\}$$

where g: A -> Y is a function.

For this purpose we need some elements of Fréchét differential calculus. Such elements can be found in Cartan's book ([5] Ch.I.\$5). However, let us recall here some basical aspects in Fréchet differen-

tiability (strictly necessary in what follows)

The function g:A \rightarrow Y is said to be Fréchet differentiable at $x \in A$ if there is a linear continuous function (say g(x)) from X into Y such that:

(2.8)
$$\lim_{\substack{y \to 0 \\ y \neq 0}} \frac{1}{\|y\|} \|g(x+y) - g(x) - g(x)(y)\| = 0$$

(All over the paper the differentiability of a function is considered in Fréchet sense, only).

The function g is said to be differentiable on A if it is differentiable at every point $x \in A$.

By definition, $g: A \to L(X,Y)$ (the space of all linear continuous operators from X into Y, endowed with the standard linear normed structure). Similarly, g is said to be differentiable at $x \in A$ if there is a linear continuous function (call it g(x)) from X into L(X,Y), such that

(2.9)
$$\lim_{y \to 0} \frac{1}{\|y\|} \|g(x+y) - g(x) - g(x)(y)\| = 0$$

 $y \neq 0$

where $\|z\|$ is the norm in X(L(X,Y)) if $z \in X$ (resp. $z \in L(X,Y)$). g is said to be twice differentiable on A if both g and g are differentiable at any $x \in A$.

Therefore, $g:A \to L(X, L(X, Y))$. Inductively one defines $g:A \to L(X, L(X, L(X, Y)))$ a, s.o. We shall use also the following consequence of Taylor formula (when g is twice differentiable on $x \in A$).

(2.10)
$$\lim_{y\to 0} \frac{1}{\|y\|^2} \|g(x+y)-g(x)-g(x)(y)-\frac{1}{2}g(x)(y)(y)\| = 0$$

Finally, by $C^k(A,Y)$ we mean (as usual) the set of all k-times differentiable functions $g:A\subset X\to Y$, with $g^{(k)}$ (the derivative of k-order) continuous on A.

In the sequel we shall suppose that $Y = R^n$ (the Euclidian n-space) and that the function w: $A \rightarrow R^n$ given by

(2.11) $w(x) = g(x)(f(x)), x \in A$

is differentiable on A. For application in mechanics the following the ree results are useful

Theorem 2.6 Assume that the function $u \rightarrow g(x)(u)$ from X into Rⁿ is surjective (for each $x \in D_g$) and g is twice differentiable on A.Then

(2.12) $M_{D_g} = \{ (x,y) \in A \times X; g(x) = 0, g(x)(y) = 0, g(x)(y)(y) + g(x)$ (f(x)) = 0 \}

(i.e.M given by (2.5) has the form (2.12)).

Assume in addition that g is three times differentiable on A, w(given by(2.11)) is differentiable on A, M_D is nonempty and the function $u \rightarrow (\dot{g}(x)(u), \ddot{g}(x)(y)(u))$ from X into $R^D \times R^D$ is surjective, for each $(x,y) \in M_D$ Then D_g is a flow invariant set for (2.4) iff

(2.13) $g(x)(y)(y)(y)+2g(x)(f(x))(y)+w(x)(y) = 0, \forall (x,y) \in M_{D_g}$

Furthermore we consider the case n = 1(i.e.Y = R-the real axis)

Theoreme 2.7 (1)Let g:ACX \rightarrow R be twice differentiable and w:A \rightarrow R (given by (2.11)) satisfying the condition w(x) \neq 0 for all x \in Dg. Then (2.12) holds.

- (2) Assume in addition that g is three times differentiable on A,w is differentiable on A, and MDg is nonempty. Then Dg is flow-invariant for (2.4) iff (2.13) holds.
- (3) Moreover, for each $x, \bar{y} \in X$ with the properties:

(2.14)
$$g(x) = 0, g(x)(\bar{y}) = 0, g(x)(f(x))g(x)(\bar{y}) < 0,$$

the pair $(x,y) \in M_{D_g}$ where

(2.15)
$$\mathbf{y} = \sqrt{\frac{\dot{g}(\mathbf{x})(f(\mathbf{x}))}{\ddot{g}(\mathbf{x})(\ddot{y})(\ddot{y})}} \ \bar{\mathbf{y}} \ .$$

We now consider the case $X = R^2$, Y = R. Let us precise several notations.

$$(2.15)^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{1} \\ x_{2} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2}, f(x) = \begin{pmatrix} f^{1}(x_{1}, x_{2}) \\ f^{2}(x_{1}, x_{2}) \end{pmatrix}, y = \begin{pmatrix} y_{1} \\ y_{2} \end{pmatrix}, y^{2} = y_{1}^{2} + y_{2}^{2} = \|y\|^{2}$$

$$(2.16)\begin{cases} g_{i} = g_{i}(x) = \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_{i}}(x), g_{ij} = g_{ij}(x) = \frac{\partial^{2} g}{\partial x_{i} \partial x_{j}}(x), g_{ijk} = g_{ijk}(x) = \frac{\partial^{3} g}{\partial x_{i} \partial x_{j} \partial x_{k}}(x) \\ w_{i} = w_{i}(x) = \frac{\partial w}{\partial x_{i}}(x), i, j, k = 1, 2. \end{cases}$$

In this case it is well-known that

$$(2.17) \left\{ g(x) = \begin{pmatrix} g_1 \\ g_2 \end{pmatrix} (i.e.g(x) = grad g(x)), g(x) = \begin{pmatrix} g_{11} & g_{12} \\ g_{21} & g_{22} \end{pmatrix}, \\ g(x)(y) = \langle g(x), y \rangle = g_1 y_1 + g_2 y_2, g(x)(g(x)) = 0, g(x) = \begin{pmatrix} g_2 \\ g_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

For the sake of simplicity, denote

$$\begin{cases} a_1 = a_1(x) = g_1^2 + g_2^2(i \cdot e \cdot a_1(x) = \|g(x)\|^2 = \|g(x)\|^2) \\ a_2 = a_2(x) = g_{11}g_2^2 - 2g_{12}g_{12}g_2 + g_{22}g_1^2 \\ a_3 = a_3(x) = g_{111}g_2^3 - 3g_{112}g_1 g_2^2 + 3g_{122}g_1^2 g_2 - g_{222}g_1^3 \end{cases}$$

where g_i^2 is the square of the number $g_i(x)$, i = 1, 2.

Obviously

(2.19)
$$g(x)(y)(y) = (y_1,y_2) \begin{pmatrix} g_{11} & g_{12} \\ g_{21} & g_{22} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix} = g_{11}y_1^2 + 2g_{12}y_1y_2 + g_{22}y_2^2 \text{ (if } g_{12} = g_{21})$$

(2.20)
$$g(x)(y)(y) = \sum_{i,j,k=1}^{2} g_{ijk}y_{i}y_{j}y_{k}$$

Therefore with $y = g(x)^{\perp}$, it follows

(2.21)
$$a_2 = g(x)(g(x))(g(x)), a_3 = g(x)(g(x))(g(x))(g(x))$$

Denote by c(x) the curvature of Dg at x.It is well-known that

(2.22)
$$c(x) = \frac{a_2(x)}{(a_1(x))^{3/2}}$$

From Theorem 2.7 we can derive a result with a unifying effect in the theory of flight space, namely (with the above notations):

Theorem 2.8 Assume that $g:A \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ is twice differentiable and (2.23) g(x)(f(x)) g(x)(y)(y) < 0.

for all (x,y) with g(x) = 0 and $g(x)(y) = 0, y \neq 0$.

Then, MD, given by (2.12) has the form

(2.24)
$$M_{D_g} = \left\{ (x,y) \in A \times \mathbb{R}^2; g(x) = 0, g_1 y_1 + g_2 y_2 = 0, y^2 - \frac{g(x)(f(x))}{c(x)\|g(x)\|} \right\}$$

and for each $x \in D_g$ there is $y \in R^2$ such that $(x,y) \in M_{D_g}$. Assume in addition that g is three times differentiable on A and w: $A \subset R^2 \rightarrow R$ (given by (2.11)) is differentiable on A. Then D_g is flow-invariant for (2.4) iff

(2.25)
$$-\dot{g}(x)(f(x)) \frac{e_3(x)}{a_2(x)} + 2(g_{11}g_2 - g_{12}g_1)f^1(x) + 2(g_{21}g_2 - g_{22}g_1)f^2(x) + w_1g_2 - w_2g_1 = 0$$

for all x with g(x) = 0

Remark 2.2 If $f:A \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ is differentiable on A, the invariance condition (2.13) becomes obviously

(2.26)
$$g(x)(y)(y)(y)+3g(x)(f(x))(y)+g(x)(f(x)(y))=0$$

since

$$\dot{w}(x)(y) = \ddot{g}(x)(f(x))(y) + \dot{g}(x)(\dot{f}(x)(y))$$
.

In this case (2.25) can be rewritten under the form

$$(2.27) - (g_1f^1 + g_2f^2) \frac{g_3(x)}{g_1(x)} + 3(g_{11}g_2 - g_{12}g_1)f^1 + 3(g_{21}g_2 - g_{22}g_1)f^2 + g_1g_2(\frac{\partial f^1}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial f^2}{\partial x_2}) + g_2^2 \frac{\partial f^2}{\partial x_1} - g_1^2 \frac{\partial f^1}{\partial x_2} = 0$$
for all x with $g(x) = 0$

Indeed, this partial differential equation in f^{i} is a direct consequence of (2.25), in which $w_{i}(i=1,2)$ is replaced by the expressions

(2.29) below.

First of all, in this case (2.11) is the following function

(2.28)
$$w(x) = \langle g(x), f(x) \rangle = g_1 f^1 + g_2 f^2$$

Consequently,

(2.29)
$$\dot{w}_{i} = \dot{w}_{i}(x) = \frac{\partial \dot{w}}{\partial x_{i}} = g_{1i}f^{1} + g_{2i}f^{2} + g_{1}\frac{\partial f^{1}}{\partial x_{i}} + g_{2}\frac{\partial f^{2}}{\partial x_{1}}, i=1,2.$$

(2.30)
$$\hat{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbf{x})(\hat{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})) = \langle \hat{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbf{x}), \hat{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})' \rangle = \mathbf{w}_1 \mathbf{g}_2 - \mathbf{w}_2 \mathbf{g}_1$$

3. PRELIMINARIES ON TANGENT SETS

For the proof of the results stated in section 2 it is necessary to present some aspects on tangent sets. We shall use the notations of the previous section.

Let us consider the conditions:

(3.1)
$$\lim_{h \neq 0} \frac{1}{h} d[x+hy; D] = 0 ,$$

(3.2)
$$\lim_{h \neq 0} \frac{1}{h^2} d[x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}z;D] = 0$$

where D is a nonempty subset of the real Banach space X and $x,y,z \in X$.

Using (2.2) it follows

$$\frac{1}{h} |d[x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}z;D] - d[x+hy;D]| \leq \frac{h}{2} ||z||$$

which shows that (3.2) implies (3.1)

The set of all y satisfying (3.1) is said to be a "tangent set"to D at x.

In some particular cases(e.g.when D is a smooth set) the tangent set is just the tangent space to D at x (in classical sense). On this subject we refere to Ursescu [27-29].

Let E be a nonempty subset of real normed space Y, A < X an open

subset of X and g:A \rightarrow Y a differentiable function at $x \in A_0$ We now introduce the condition

(3.3)
$$\lim_{h \neq 0} \frac{1}{h} d[g(x) + h\dot{g}(x)(y); E] = 0$$

and, if g is twice differentiable at x ∈ A,

(3.4)
$$\lim_{h \neq 0} \frac{1}{h^2} d[g(x) + h\dot{g}(x)(y) + \frac{h^2}{2}(\ddot{g}(x)(y)(y) + \dot{g}(x)(z)); E] = 0$$

The key of the proof of the results from section 2 is given by the next two theorems.

Theorem 3.1 If $D = g^{-1}(E)$ and g is differentiable at $x \in A$ then (3.1) implies (3.3). If in addition to the above hypothesis we assume that g is continuous on $A, u \rightarrow \dot{g}(x)(u)$ from X into Y is surjective and Y is finite dimensional, then (3.3) implies (3.1) (therefore in this case (3.1) and (3.3) are equivalent).

Theorem 3.2 If $D = g^{-1}(E)$ and g is twice differentiable at $x \in A$, then (3.2) implies (3.4). If in addition, $u \rightarrow g(x)(u)$ from X into Y is surjective and Y is finite dimensional, then (3.2) is equivalent to (3.4).

For the proof of these theorems, the following lemmas are useful.

Lemma 3.1. The condition (3.1) is equivalent to each of the statements (3.5), (3.6) below

(3.5) For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$, such that for each $h \in (0, \delta)$, there exists $u = u(\varepsilon, h) \in X$ satisfying $||u|| < \varepsilon$ and $x + h(y + u) \in D$

(3.6) For each h>0 there is $u(h) \in X$ such that $u(h) \to 0$ as $h \downarrow 0$ and $x+h(y+u(h)) \in D$.

Lemma 3.2 Each of the statements (3.7) and (3.8) are equivalent to (3.2), where

(3.7) For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for each $h \in (0, \delta)$, there is $u=u(\varepsilon,h) \in X$ with the properties

 $\|u\| < \varepsilon$ and $x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(z+u) \in D$

(3.8) For each h> 0, there is $u(h) \in X$ such that $u(h) \rightarrow 0$ as $h \downarrow 0$ and $x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(z+u(h)) \in D$

In the cartesian product X × X, the last part of Lemma3.1 becomes

Lemma 3.3 Let M be a nonempty subset of $X \times X$. For each $(x,y) \in M$ and $(z,w) \in X \times X$, the following conditions (i) and (ii) are equivalent

(i)
$$\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} d[(x,y)+h(z,w);M] = 0$$

(ii) For each h>0, there exist $r_j(h) \in X$ (j=1,2) with $r_j(h) \rightarrow 0$ as h $\downarrow 0$, such that

$$(x+h(z+r_1(h)),y+h(w+r_2(h))) \in M$$

The proof of these lemmas is elementary and can be found e.g.in [21], so we omit it. A second set of results establish some consequences of the relations (2.8) and (2.9). First of all let us consider (2.8).

If g: $A \subset X \rightarrow Y$ is differentiable at $x \in A$ then from (2.8)it follows that

(3.9)
$$\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} (g(x+hy)-g(x)-hg(x)(y)) = 0$$
,

uniformly with respect to y from bounded subsets of X.

Replacing (in 3.9)) y by y+u, one obtains

(3.10)
$$\lim_{h \neq 0} \frac{1}{h} (g(x+h(y+u))-g(x)-hg(x)(y)) = 0$$

The lemma below states a reciprocal (in a certain sense) relation to (3.10), namely.

Lemma 3.4 Assume that g is continuous on A differentiable at $x \in A$, $u \rightarrow g(x)(u)$ from X into Y is surjective and Y is finite dimensional.

Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that for each $h \in (0, \delta)$ and $v \in Y$ with $||v|| < \delta$, there is $u \in X$ with the proprities:

(3.11)
$$\|u\| < \varepsilon, x + h(y + u) \in A, g(x + h(y + u)) = g(x) + h(g(x)(y) + v)$$

In the proof of Lemma 3.4, the following simple result is needed

Lemma 3.5 Let L: X->Y be a linear surjective operator. If Y is finit

dimensional, then there is a linear continuous operator 1: Y > X such that

(3.12) L(1(y)) = y, for all $y \in Y$.

Proof.Let e_1, \dots, e_n be a basis for Y.Choose $x_i \in X$ such that $L(x_i) = e_i, i=1, 2, \dots, n$. If y is arbitrary in Y, there exists $a_i \in R, i=1, \dots, n$ such that $y = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i e_i$. With $1: Y \to X$ given by $1(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i x_i$, the assertion of lemma is proved.

Proof of Lemma 3.4 Since g(x) is surjective, by Lemma 3.5 (with L = g(x)) there is a linear continuous operator $1: Y \rightarrow X$, such that (3.13) g(x)(1(w)) = w, for all $w \in Y$.

Let $\mathcal{E}>0$ arbitrary. Inasmuch as l(o)=0 and l is continuous at 0, there is r>0 such that

(3.13) $\|1(w)\| \le \xi$, for all $w \in B(r) = \{w \in Y; \|w\| \le r\}$. According to (3.9), there is $\delta = \delta(\xi) > 0$, such that

(3.14) $x+h(y+1(w)) \in A$

(3.15) $\frac{1}{h} \|g(x+h(y+1(w)))-g(x)-hg(x)(y+1(w))\| < \frac{r}{2}$ for all $h \in (0,\delta)$ and $w \in B(r)$.

We may assume (without loss of generality) that $\int \leq \frac{r}{2}$. Let us show that this δ satisfies the condition required by our lemma Take an arbitrary $h \in (0, \delta)$ and $v \in Y$ with $\|v\| \leq \delta$ and denote by $F:B(r) \Rightarrow Y$ the function

(3.16) $F(w) = \frac{1}{h} [(-g(x+h(y+l(w)))+g(x)+hg(x)(y+l(w)))]+v$ Using the linearity of g(x) and (3.13), (3.16) yields

(3.17) g(x+h(y+1(w)) = g(x)+h(g(x)(y)+v)+h(w-F(w))

In view of (3.15) and of $\delta \leqslant \frac{\mathbf{r}}{2}$, $\|\mathbf{v}\| \leqslant \delta \leqslant \frac{\mathbf{r}}{2}$, we have $\|\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{w})\| \leqslant \mathbf{r}$, for all $\mathbf{w} \in \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r})$, i.e. $\mathbf{F} : \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}) \to \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r})$. Since \mathbf{F} is continuous on

B(r), by Brower fixed point theorem, there is an element w & B(r) such that F(w) = w. With this w and u = 1(w), (3.13)!, (3.14) and (3.17) show that the requirements of the lemma are satisfied.

We now assume that g is twice differentiable at x & A. Replacing in (2.10) y by hy(y by,hy + $\frac{h^2}{2}$ z) and taking into account $g(x) \in L(X,$ L(X,Y)) we easily get (3.18)(resp.(3.19)) below.

(3.18)
$$\lim_{h \neq 0} \frac{2}{h^2} \left[g(x+hy) - g(x) - hg(x)(y) - \frac{h^2}{2} g(x)(y)(y) \right] = 0$$

uniformly with respect to y from bounded subsets of X,

(3.19)
$$\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{2}{h^2} \left[g(x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}z) - g(x) - hg(x)(y) - \frac{h^2}{2}(g(x)(y)(y) + g(x)(z)) \right] = 0$$

uniformly with respect to (y,z) from bounded subsets of XXX.

Finally, if in (3.19) we replace z by z+u and we have in mind g(x) $\in L(X,Y)$, we obtain

(3.20)
$$\lim_{h \to 0} \frac{2}{h^2} \left[g(x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(z+u)) - g(x) - hg(x)(y) - \frac{h^2}{2} (\ddot{g}(x)(y)(y) + \dot{g}(x)(z) \right] = 0$$

The lemma below establishes (in a certain sense) relation to (3.20)

Lemma 3.5 Assume that g is continuous on A, twice differentiable at $x \in A$, $u \rightarrow g(x)(u)$ from X into Y is surjective and Y is finite dimensional. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that for each $h \in (0, \delta)$ and veY with |v|< &, there is ueX with the properties

(3.21)
$$\begin{cases} \|u\| < \xi, x + hy + \frac{h^2}{2}(z + u) \in A, \\ g(x + hy + \frac{h^2}{2}(z + u)) = g(x) + hg(x)(y) + \frac{h^2}{2}(g(x)(y)(y) + g(x)(z) + v) \end{cases}$$

Proof. Let 1:Y-X as in the proof of the previous lemma, satisfying (3.13). For an arbitrary $\varepsilon > 0$, let r > 0 be such that (3.13) holds. Since A is open and (3.19) holds (with z+1(w) instead of z) it follows that there is \$ > 0 such that

(2.22)
$$x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(z+u) \in A$$

and

(3.23)
$$\frac{2}{h^2} \|g(x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(z+1(w)))-g(x)-hg(x)(y)-\frac{h^2}{2}(g(x)(y)(y)+g(x)(z+\frac{h^2}{2}(g(x)(y))))\| \le \frac{r}{2}$$
for all $h \in (0, \delta)$ and $w \in B(r)(see(3.13))$

Without loss of generality, we may assume that $\delta \leqslant \frac{r}{2}$. Let us show that this δ is a suitable one. To do that, let $h \in (0, \delta)$ and $v \in Y$ with $\|v\| < \delta$. Define the function $F:B(r) \rightarrow Y$ by

(3.24)
$$F(w) = \frac{2}{h^2} \left[-g(x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(z+1(w))) + g(x) + hg(x)(y) + \frac{h^2}{2}(g(x)(y)(y) + g(x)(z+1(w))) \right] + v$$

The linearity of g(x) and (3.24) implies

(3.25)
$$g(x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(z+\underline{1}(w))) = g(x)+hg(x)(y)+\frac{h^2}{2}(g(x)(y)(y)+g(x)(z)+y+w-F(w)).$$

Clearly (3.23) and (3.24) yields $||F(w)|| \le r$ for all $w \in B(r)$, that is $F: B(r) \rightarrow B(r)$. Since F is continuous on B(r), there is $w \in B(r)$ such that F(w) = w. With this w and u = I(w), (3.13), (3.22) and (3.25) conclude the proof.

We now can proceded to the proof of the theorems 3.1 and 3.2.

<u>Proof of Theorem</u> 3.1 Let us assume that g is differentiable at $x \in A$ and that (3.1) holds. In order to get (3.3) we shall use Lemma 3.1 By this Lemma, for each h > 0, there is $u(h) \in X$ such that $u(h) \Rightarrow 0$ as $h \nmid 0$ and $x + h(y + u(h)) \in D = g^{-1}(E)$. This means that

 $g(x+h(y+u(h))) \in E, \neq h>0$ and therefore

$$\frac{1}{h} d[g(x) + hg(x)(y); E] \le \frac{1}{h} ||g(x) + hg(x)(y) - g(x + h(y + u(h)))||$$

which according to (3.10)) implies (3.3).

Assume now in addition that g is continuous on $A,g(x):X\to Y$ is surjective, Y is finite dimensional and that (3.3) holds. Then by the part (3.6) of Lemma 3.1, for each h>0, there is $r(h)\in Y$ with $r(h)\to 0$ as $h\downarrow 0$, such that

Med 16636

(3.26) $g(x)+h(g(x)(y)+r(h))\in E$

For an arbitrary $\xi > 0$, let $\delta = \delta(\xi) > 0$ be a number with the property given by Lemma 3.4.

Since r(h) \rightarrow 0, as h \downarrow 0, there is $\delta_1 = \delta_1(\xi) \in (0, \delta)$ such that

(3.27) $||r(h)|| < \delta$, $\forall h \in (0, \delta_1)$

According to Lemma 3.4, for each h with $0 < h < \delta_1(\delta_1 < \delta)$ there is $u = u(h) \in X$ with the properties:

(3.28) $\|u\| < \xi, x + h(y + u) \in A, g(x + h(y + u)) = g(x) + h(g(x)(y) + r(h))$

First of all (3.28) shows (taking into account (3.26)) that $x+h(y+u) \in g^{-1}(E) = D$, consequently, in view of Lemma 3.1, (3.1) is proved.

Proof of Theorem 3.2 The proof of this theorem is very similar to that of theorem 3.1. However, since it is rather technical, we shall give it.

Let $D = g^{-1}(E), g: A \rightarrow Y$ twice differentiable at $x \in A$ and assume that (3.2) holds.

In view of Lemma 3.2, there is $u(h) \in X$ with the property (3.8) which gives

$$g(x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(z+u(h))) \in E$$
,

for all h>0.

Therefore

$$\frac{1}{h^2} d[g(x) + h\dot{g}(x)(y) + \frac{h^2}{2}(\ddot{g}(x)(y)(y) + \dot{g}(x)(z)); E] \le \frac{1}{h^2} ||g(x) + h\dot{g}(x)(y) + \frac{h^2}{2}(\ddot{g}(x)(y)(y) + \dot{g}(x)(z)) - g(x + hy + \frac{h^2}{2}(z + u(h))||$$

which (according to (3.20)) implies (3.4).

Assume now in addition that, g(x): X->Y is surjective, Y is finite dimensional and (3.4) holds.

Then by the part (3.8) of Lemma 3.2, there is $r(h) \in Y$ with $r(h) \rightarrow 0$ as $h \downarrow 0$ and

(3.29)
$$g(x)+hg(x)(y)+\frac{h^2}{2}(g(x)(y)(y)+g(x)(z)+r(h)) \in E$$

for all h>0.

For $\xi > 0$, let $\delta > 0$ be a number with the property given by Lemma 3-5 and $\delta_1 \in (0, \delta)$ satisfying (3.27). Since $0 < \delta_1 < \delta$, according to Lemma 3.5, for each $h \in (0, \delta_1)$, there is $u \in X$ with the properties

$$\|u\| < \xi, x + hy + \frac{h^2}{2}(z + u) \in A$$
(3.30)
$$g(x + hy + \frac{h^2}{2}(z + u)) = g(x) + hg(x)(y) + \frac{h^2}{2}(g(x)(y)(y) + g(x)(z) + r(h))$$

which implies (using(3.29)),

(3.31)
$$x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(z+u) \in g^{-1}(E) = D$$

In view of Lemma 3.2 (with δ_1 instead of δ), (3-31) and the first part of (3.30), prove (3.2).

From theorems 3.1 and 3.2 we get easily the results below Corollary 3.1 Assume that $g:A \subset X \to Y$ is differentiable at $x \in A$ continuous on $A, g(x): X \to Y$ is surjective and Y is finite dimensional. Then the following conditions are equivalent

(3.32)
$$\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} d[x+hy;D_g] = 0$$
, $y \in X$

(3.33)
$$g(x) = 0$$
, $g(x)(y) = 0$

Here Dg is given by (2.7).

Corollary 3.2 In addition to the hypotheses of Corollary 3.1 we assume that g is twice differentiable at x ∈ A. Then the following conditions are equivalent

(3.34)
$$\lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h^2} d[x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}z;D_g] = 0$$
, $y,z \in X$

(3.35)
$$g(x) = 0, g(x)(y) = 0, g(x)(y)(y) + g(x)(z) = 0$$

Proof of Corollary 3.1

Set
$$E = \{0\}$$
. Then $D_g = g^{-1}(E)$.

In view of Theorem 3.1, (3.32) is equivalent to

(3.36)
$$\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} d[g(x) + hg(x)(y); \{0\}] = 0$$

Obviously (3.36) holds iff (3.33) holds.

Proof Of Corollary 3.2 In view of Theorem 3.2, (3.32) is equivalent to

(3.37)
$$\lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h^2} d[g(x) + hg(x)(y) + \frac{h^2}{2}(g(x)(y)(y) + g(x)(z)); \{0\}] = 0$$

and the results follows.

Remark 3.1 In the case in which Y is a general Banach space and g is if class $C^1(A,Y)$, the equivalence of (3.32) and (3.33) is proved in [11] p.483.

Denote by $\langle x,y \rangle_+$, the usual one-sided directional derivative of the norm || . || of X at x, i.e.

(3.38)
$$\langle x,y \rangle_{+} = \lim_{h \neq 0} \frac{\|x + hy\| - \|x\|}{h}, x, y \in X$$

We shall give a characterization of (3.32) in terms of (3.38), when

(3.39)
$$g(x) = \frac{1}{2} (||x||^2 - r^2), D_g = S(r) = \{x \in X, ||x|| = r\}, r > 0$$

- Proposition 3.1 The following conditions are equivalent

(i)
$$\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} d[x+hy;S(r)] = 0$$
,

(ii)
$$\langle x, y \rangle_{+} = 0, ||x|| = r$$

(iii)
$$\lim_{h \neq 0} \frac{1}{h} d[x+hy;S(r)] = 0$$

Proof Let us assume that (i) holds. Then there exists two sequences $h_n \downarrow 0$ and $r_n \in X$ with $r_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, such that

$$||x+h_n(y+r_n)|| = r$$

This implies ||x|| = r and

$$|\| x + h_n y \| - \| x \| \| = \| || x + h_n y \| - \| || x + h_n (y + r_n) \| \le h_n \| r_n \|$$

which yields (ii).

We now prove that (ii) implies (iii). For each h>0, choose $r(h)\in X$, such that

(3.40)
$$x+hy+hr(h) = \frac{r(x+hy)}{\|x+hy\|}$$

Clearly

(3.41)
$$||x+hy+hr(h)|| = r$$
, $||r(h)|| = \frac{||x+hy|| - ||x||}{h}$

Since $\langle x,y \rangle_{+} = 0$, (3.41) shows that $r(h) \rightarrow 0$ as h.o. In view of Lemma 3.1, (i.i.), (iii) follows from (3.41).

Remark 3.2 (1) When the norm of X is not differentiable, proposition 3.1 cannot be obtained from Corollary 3.1.

(2) In the case of Gâteaux differentiability of the norm of X, with a proof very similar to that of Proposition 3.1, one can prove the equivalence of the condition below

(3.42)
$$\lim_{t\to 0} \frac{1}{t} d[x+ty;S(r)] = 0,$$

(3.43)
$$\lim_{t\to 0} \frac{\|x+ty\|-\|x\|}{t} = 0, \|x\| = r,$$

(3) The condition (ii) of Proposition 3.1 is related to Example 4.1 from [9].

In the case of a real Hilbert space H of inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and norm $\|\cdot\|$, the condition (ii) of Proposition 3.1 means $\langle x,y \rangle = 0$. Moreover, we have

Corollary.3.3 Let x,y,z CH.

Then

(3.44)
$$\lim_{h \neq 0} \frac{1}{h^2} d \left[x + hy + \frac{h^2}{2} z; S(r) \right] = 0$$

iff

(3.45)
$$\|x\| = r, \langle x, y \rangle = 0, \|y\|^2 + \langle x, z \rangle = 0$$

Proof. One applies Corollary 3.2 with g given by (3.39), observing that

(3.46)
$$g(x)(y) = \langle x, y \rangle$$
, $g(x)(y)(v) = \langle y, v \rangle$, $\forall v \in H$.

4. PROOF OF THE MAIN RESULTS

Proof of the Theorem 2.2 Assume that u: $[0,T) \rightarrow A$ is a solution of (2.4). It is known that (see e.g.[5], Ch.I) if u"(t) exists then

(4.1)
$$\lim_{h \neq 0} \| u(t+h) - u(t) - hu'(t) - \frac{h^2}{2} u''(t) \| / h^2 = 0$$

where the derivatives are taken in strong sense.

Therefore

(4.2)
$$\lim_{h \downarrow 0} \|u(t+h)-u(t)-hu'(t)-\frac{h^2}{2}f(u(t))\|/h^2 = 0$$

(i) If $u(t) \in D$ for all $t \in [0,T)$, then for each $t \in [0,T)$, $u(t+h) \in D$ for all $h \in [0,T-t)$

Consequently

(4.3)
$$\frac{1}{h^2} d[u(t)+hu'(t)+\frac{h^2}{2}f(u(t));D] < \frac{1}{h^2}||u(t)+hu'(t)+\frac{h^2}{2}f(u(t))-u(t+h)||$$

for all $h \in (0, T-t)$ and $t \in [0, T)$.

Combining (4.2) and (4.3) it follows $(u(t),u^*(t)) \in M_D$. We now assume (in addition) that D is closed in A (in the sense of Definition 2.2) and $(u(t),u^*(t)) \in M_D$ (given by (2.5)). This means (by Lemma 3.2) that there is $r(h) \in X$ with $r(h) \to 0$ as $h \downarrow 0$, such that

(4.4)
$$u(t)+hu^{*}(t)+\frac{h^{2}}{2}(f(u(t))+r(h)) \in D = \overline{D} \cap A$$

for all $h>0$.

Since $u(t) \in A$, (4.4) implies $u(t) \in \overline{D} \cap A = D$.

Remark 4.1 With the same proof it follows that the projection $pr_1(M_D)$ of $M_D \subset A \times X$ on the first factor space of $X \times X$ satisfies

Therefore, the case $D = \overline{D} \cap A$ yields $pr_1(M_D) \subset D$.

m The proof of theorem 2.3 is a simple combination of Theorem 2.2 with Definition 2.3, so it is left to the reader.

Proof of Corollary 2.1 Assume that we are in the hypothesis (1). Since $D \subset \bigcap_{i \in I} D_i$, it follows directly from (2.5) that $M_D \subset \bigcap_{i \in I} M_{D_i}$. It remains to prove the converse inclusion.

Let $(x,y) \in \bigcap_{i \in I} \mathbb{M}_{D_i}$. Since $f: A \subset X \to X$ is locally Lipschitz the then solution $u: [0,T) \to A$ of (2.4) with u(0) = x,u'(0) = y is uniquely determined by $(x,y) \in \mathbb{M}_{D_i}$. According to Theorem 2.3 $(u(0),u'(0)) \in \mathbb{M}_{D_i}$ implies $u(t) \in D_i$ for all $t \in [0,T)$, whenver $i \in I$. Consequently, $u(t) \in D$ for all $t \in [0,T)$, which implies (by Theorem 2.2) $(u(t),u'(t)) \in \mathbb{M}_{D_i} \neq t \in [0,T)$. For t = 0, this gives $(x,y) \in \mathbb{M}_D$ and (*) is proved.

(2) Assume that M_D is nonempty.If $u: [0,T) \rightarrow A$ is a solution of (2.2) with $(u(o),u'(o)) \in M_D$, then $(u(o),u'(o)) \in M_D$. Hence (by Definition 2.2) $(u(t),u'(t)) \in M_D$, $i \in I$, $t \in [0,T)$ which implies (using (*)) $(u(t),u'(t)) \in M_D$. This means just the fact that D is flow-invariant set for (2.4).

Proof of Theorem 2.4 By a standard device, consider the first order autonomous differential system

(4.5)
$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = v(t) \\ v'(t) = f(u(t)) \end{cases} t \geqslant 0$$

Obviously this system is equivalnt to (2.4). In view of definitions 2.1 and 2.3 it follows that D is a flow-invariant set for (2.4) if and only if $M_{\rm D}$ is a nonempty flow-invariant set for (4.5).

Since the function $f: A \subset X \to X$ is locally Lipschitz, the function $(x,y) \to (y,f(x))$ from $A \times X$ into $X \times X$ is locally Lipschitz too.By Theorem 2.1, the nonempty (closed in $A \times X$) set M_D is flow-invariant for (4.5) iff (2,6) holds.

Remark 4.1 Essentially, the result given by Theorem 2.4 (as well as it proof) has been presented in [21] .Here, both the proof of Theorem 2.4 and the notion of "flow-invariant set" for a second order differential equation, are much more precisely given. The limit sppearing in (2.5) has been considered (before [21]) in [16] but not efficiently used. However, the idea to investigate the flow-invariance of a set for (2.4), goes back to [16].

Proof of Theorem 2.5 Let $(x,y) \in M_D$ and u the function defined by (3.8). Then

(4.6) $x+hy+\frac{h^2}{2}(f(x)+u(h)) \in D = A \cap S \in S, \neq h>0$ and $u(h)\to 0$ as $h \downarrow 0$,

Since S is closed (4.6) implies $x \in S$ so $x \in A \cap S = D$. Further, because S is a linear space, (4.6) implies now

(4.7)
$$y + \frac{h}{2} (f(x) + u(h)) \in S$$
, $\forall h > 0$

Arguing as above, (4.7) gives $y \in S$ and then $f(x) \in S$. Therefore $x \in f^{-1}(s)$ and $(x,y) \in (D \cap f^{-1}(S)) \times S$.

Finally let $(x,y) \in (D \cap f^{-1}(S)) \times S$. Then for every h > 0 we have (inasmuch as $D = A \cap S$) $v_h = x + hy + \frac{h^2}{2} f(x) \in S$

Since A is open, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $\mathbf{v}_h \in A$ (hence $\mathbf{v}_h \in AMS$) $\forall h \in (0, \delta)$. According to the definition of $\mathbf{M}_D(\sec(2.5))$ it now trivially follows that $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \in \mathbf{M}_D$ and the part (i) off the theorem is proved. If we assume that $f(D) \subset S$ (i.e.D $\subset f^{-1}(S)$) then obviously, (i) becomes $\mathbf{M}_D = D \times S$. Therefore \mathbf{M}_D is a nonempty closed in A $\times X$ set. To get the last assertion of (ii), we apply Theorem 2.4.

Let $(x,y) \in M_D$ (which means $x \in A \cap S$ and $y \in S$). Then for every h > 0, we have

$$(x,y)+h(y,f(x)) \in S \times S$$

and there is $\delta > 0$ such that x+hy $\in A$, $\forall h \in (0, \delta)$. Therefore

$$(x,y)+h(y,f(x))\in (A \cap S)\times S = D\times S = M_D$$
, $\forall h \in (0,\delta)$

which trivially implies (2.6). The theorem is proved.

<u>Proof of Theorem</u> 2.6 The form (2.12) of M_D given by (2.5) follows from Corollary 3.2.To prove the second part of the theorem, observe that M_D can be written in a form similar to (2.7) namely:

(4.8)
$$M_{D_g} = \{(x,y) \in A \times X; k(x,y) = 0\}$$

where k: $A \times X \rightarrow R^{3n}$ is given by

$$k(x,y) = (g(x), g(x)(y), g(x)(y)(y)+w(x))$$

with w given by (2.11).

It is easy to check that k is differentiable on $A \times X$ and that for each $(x,y) \in A \times X$,

$$k(x,y)(u,v)=(g(x)(u),g(x)(y)(u)+g(x)(v),g(x)(u)(y)(y)+2g(x)(y)(v)+$$

We now prove that the function $k(x,y):X\times X\to \mathbb{R}^{3n}$ is surjective (for each $(x,y)\in M_D$).

To do that let $y_i \in \mathbb{R}^n$, i=1,2,3. We have to prove that there is $(u,v) \in X \times X$ such that $k(x,y)(u,v)=(y_1,y_2,y_3)$, i.e.

$$(4.9) \begin{cases} \mathring{g}(x)(u) = y_1 \\ \mathring{g}(x)(y)(u) + \mathring{g}(x)(v) = y_2 \\ \mathring{g}(x)(u)(y) + 2\mathring{g}(x)(y)(v) + \mathring{w}(x)(u) = y_3 \end{cases}$$

The first hypothesis of the theorem is the surjectivity of g(x): $X \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$. Therefore, there is $u \in X$ verifying the first equation of (4.9). The existence of $v \in X$ verifying the other two equations of (4.9) is a direct consequence of surjectivity of

$$u \to (g(x)(u), g(x)(y)(u)).$$

According to Corollary 3.1, with $k(M_D)$ instead of g(resp.D) we conclude that (2.6) holds iff k(x,y)(y,f(x)) = 0 holds (which led us to (2.13)).

Proof of Theorem 2.7 The fact that (2.12) holds too, is a direct consequence of Theorem 2.6. Indeed, since g(x): X \rightarrow R and $g(x)(f(x)) \neq 0$ on Dg(according to one of the hypothesis), g(x) is not the null fucctional and consequently is surjective.

To prove the second part of the Theorem, it suffices to check that in this case, the linear function $u \rightarrow (g(x)(u), g(x)(y)(u))$ from X into R^2 is surjective (for each $(x,y) \in M_D$), or equivalently that the linear functions

(4.10)
$$u \to g(x)(u)$$
, $u \to g(x)(y)(u)$

from X to R are linear independent.

To this aim, let us consider the linear combination,

(4.11)
$$r \dot{g}(x)(u) + s\ddot{g}(x)(y)(u) = 0, \forall u \in X$$

where r and s are real numbers.

The hypothesys $w(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in D_g$ implies (in view of (2.12)) $g(x)(y)(y) \neq 0$ for all $(x,y) \in M_{D_{g}}$. Therefore, with u=y, (4.11) gives s = 0 (since g(x)(y) = 0). Furthermore, for u = f(x), (4.11) gives r = 0and hence, by Theorem 2.6, the flow-invariance of Dg is equivalent to (2.13). Finally, the thisrd part of the theorem is obvious.

Proof of Theorem 2.8 Let $(x,y) \in M_{D_g}$ given by (2.12). Clearly, with $\bar{y} = g(x)^{\perp}$ given by (2.17), (2.23) is satisfied. In this case g(x)(y)= 0 and $\dot{g}(x)(\bar{y})$ = 0, shows that the vectors y and \bar{y} are parallel, therefore there is a = $a(x) \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $y = a\bar{y}$. Since g(x)(y)(y) + g(x)(f(x))(x)) = 0 it follows

(4.12)
$$a^2\ddot{g}(x)(\ddot{y})(\ddot{y}) + \mathring{g}(x)(f(x)) = 0$$

Having in mind the notations (2.15)-(2.22) and

$$\|y\|^2 = a^2 \|\bar{y}\|^2 = a^2 \|g(x)\|^2 = a^2 a_1 \cdot g(x)(\bar{y})(\bar{y}) = a_2$$

it is clear that (4.12) and (2.22) implies $(x,y) \in M_{D_p}$ given by (2.24). Note that the hypothesis (2.23) implies $w(x) \neq 0$ and (for $y = g(x)^{\perp}$)

Actually we have proved that for $x \in D_g$, there is $y \in X$ namely (4.13) $y = a\bar{y} = \left(\frac{g(x)(f(x))}{a_2}\right)^{1/2} g(x)^{1}$

such that $(x,y) \in \mathbb{M}_{D_g}$ and conversely (i.e.if $(x,y) \in \mathbb{M}_{D_g}$ then y is given by (4.13).

The last assertion of the theorem follows by replacing y given by (4.13) in (2.13) and using (2.30).

5. APPLICATIONS IN MECHANICS

It is the goal of this section to show that Theorem 2.4 (by its consequences) unifies some fundamental results of Dynamics.

Moreover, some of our results (like Theorem 5.2, Corollary 5.1, Theorem 5.4, Remark 5.6) allow us to see that some mathematical characterization of the motion on a set D_g (given by (2.7)) in R^2 or R^3 , remain valid in any R^n with n > 3, or even more, in any real Hilbert (Banach) space.

5.1 Geometrical properties of a flow-invariant set. First of all we recall that a function $f: A \subset X \to X$ is regarded as a field of force on A, in the sense that with each vector position $x \in A$ is associated the vector force $f(x) \in X$.

Remark 5.1 If g:A<X \rightarrow R is continuous, then D_g = $\{x \in A, g(x) = 0\}$ is closed in A.

According to Definition 2.3 and Theorem 2.3, the notion (5.1)"D_g is a flow-invariant set for the equation (2.4)" can be restated in terms of Dynamics as follows (5.2) A"mass particle", "projected" from a point $x \in D_g$ with a "speed" $y \in X$ such that $(x,y) \in M_{D_g}$ (given by (2.12)), describes (under the action of the force field f) an orbit which lies in D_g .

Denote by N_x the null space of the linear continuous operator g(x): $X \to R$ (where $x \in A$ and g is differentiable at x), that is

(5.3)
$$N(g(x)) = N_x = \{y \in X, g(x)(y) = 0\}$$

In terms of geometry, N(g(x)) can be identified with the tangent space at x to the manifold D_g .

Definitions 5.1 (1) A function g: A < X → R is said to be "smooth"

if it satisfies the properties

- (a) g is three times (Fréchet)differentiable on A.
- (b) For each $x \in D_g$, $g(x) : X \to R$ is not the null functional (i.e. there is $u \in X$, such that $g(x)(u) \neq 0$).
- (c) For each $x \in D_g$, $g(x)(y)(y) \neq 0, y \in N_x, y \neq 0$.
- (2) g is said to be "completely smooth", if it is smooth and if for each $x \in D_g$, the functional F(x) defined by

(5.47
$$F(x)(y) = \begin{cases} \frac{g(x)(y)(y)(y)}{g(x)(y)(y)}, & y \in \mathbb{N}_{x}, y \neq 0 \\ 0, & y = 0 \in \mathbb{N}_{x} \end{cases}$$

is a linear continuous functional form Nx into R.

Definition 5.2 A field of force f on A is said to be "g-smooth" if it locally Lipschitz, the function w: A \rightarrow R (given by (2.11)) is differentiable on A and for each $x \in D_g$.

(5.5)
$$\dot{g}(x)(f(x)) \cdot \dot{g}(x)(y)(y) < 0$$
, $\forall y \in N_x$, $y \neq 0$

Theorem 5.1 Let A be an open subset of the real Banach space X and let g: $A \rightarrow R$ be a smooth function.

(1) If there is a g-smooth force field of on A such that a "mass particle" "projected" from any point $X \in D_g$ with a "speed" y such that $(x,y) \in M_{D_g}$, "describes" (under the action of f) an "orbit" which lies in D_g , then g is completely smooth.

(2) If g is completely smooth and f is g-smooth, then D is a flow-in-variant set for (2,4) iff for each $x \in D_g$, there is a $(x) \in R$ with the property

(5.6)
$$-w(x)F(x)+2g(x)(f(x))+w(x) = a(x)g(x), x \in D_g$$

Proof.(1) Let g be a smooth function from A into R.If there is a g-smooth force field f on A with the property that D_g is a flow-invariant set for (2.4), then in view of Theorem 2.7, (2.13) holds. Take $x \in D_g$. If $y \neq 0$ is an arbitrary element of N_x (given by (5.3) and

(5.7)
$$\bar{y} = \left(-\frac{w(x)}{\ddot{g}(x)(y)(y)}\right)^{1/2} y = ay, a = \left(-\frac{w(x)}{\ddot{g}(x)(y)(y)}\right)^{1/2}$$

then obviously $(x,\bar{y}) \in M_D$ (given by (2.12))

Replacing (x,y) in (2.13) and dividing by a it follows that

(5.8) -
$$w(x)F(x)(y)+2g(x)(f(x))(y)+w(x)(y) = 0$$

for all $y \in N_y$

By definition of differentiability, the functions $y \rightarrow w(x)(y)$, $y \rightarrow g(x)(f(x))(y)$ are linear continuous functionals from X into R. Therefore, (5.8) implies that F(x) given by (5.4) is a linear continuous from N_X into R, hence g is completely smooth.

(2) This part of the Theorem is a consequence of (5.8).

To show that, let $L_i: X \rightarrow R, i = 1,2$ be two linear functionals (different from the null functional). Denote

$$N(L_i) = \{ y \in X, L_i(y) = 0 \}, i = 1, 2.$$

It is well-known that if $N(L_2) \subset N(L_1)$ then there is a $\in \mathbb{R}$, a $\neq 0$, such that $L_1 = aL_2$ (which implies $N(L_1) = N(L_2)$).

Since $N_x = N(g(x)), (5.6)$ follows from (5.8) with

$$L_1 = -w(x)F(x)+2g(x)(f(x))+w(x)$$
, $L_2 = g(x)$,

Remark 5.2 If g is smooth and f is g-smooth then M_{D_g} is nonempty Moreover, for each $x \in D_g$, there is $y \in X(e.g. y given by (5.7))$ such that

We now give some examples of completely smooth functions and g-smooth force field.

Let us consider the function

(5.9)
$$g(x) = \frac{1}{2} (ix - \bar{a}i)^2 - (\langle \bar{b}, x - \bar{a} \rangle + d)^2), x \in \mathbb{R}^n, n > 2$$

where $\bar{a}, \bar{b} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $d \in \mathbb{R}, d \neq 0, <,>$ - the inner product of \mathbb{R}^n . In the case n = 2, $C = D_g = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2; g(x) = 0\}$ is a conic with \bar{a} as one of the foci (i.e. circle, ellipse, hyperbola and parabola).

Proposition 5.1 The function g: $R^n \rightarrow R$, n = 2.3 given by (5.9) is a completely smooth function. Moreover

(5.10)
$$\ddot{g}(x)(y)(y) = y^2(1-\cos^2[x - \bar{a},y]) > 0$$

for each x and y $\in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ (n = 2,3) satisfying g(x) = 0, \dot{g} (x)(y) = 0,y \neq 0 and Newtonian field on A > D_g is a g-smooth.

Here $\langle x-\tilde{a},y \rangle$ denotes the angle determined by the vectors y and $x - \tilde{a}$ (which joins $x \in D_g$ with the focus \tilde{a}).

Proof. The property (a) appearing in Definition 5.1 is obviously satisfied in this case. (b) is satisfied too, since the gradient $\dot{g}(x)$ of a conic is different from the null vector. Of course (5.10) is also a well-known property. However, we prove it here (since, some of the formulae involved in its proof are needed in 5.2 - 5.4).

Clearly,

(5.11)
$$g(x)(y) = \langle x-\overline{a}, y \rangle - (\langle \overline{b}, x-\overline{a} \rangle + d) \langle \overline{b}, y \rangle$$

The condition g(x) = 0, means

$$(5.12) \|x-\bar{a}\|^2 = (\bar{b}, x - \bar{a}) + d)^2$$

which implies $x \neq \bar{a}$ (since $d \neq 0$.

Now, g(x)(y) = 0 and g(x) = 0, yield

$$(5.13) \langle \bar{b}, y \rangle^2 = \frac{\langle x - \bar{a}, y \rangle^2}{\|x - \bar{a}\|^2} = \|y\|^2 \cos^2 [x - \bar{a}, y]$$

On the other hand

(5.14)
$$g(x)(y)(z) = \langle z, y \rangle - \langle \overline{b}, z \rangle \langle \overline{b}, y \rangle$$
 $\forall y, z \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Therefore g(x) = 0 and

$$(5.14)$$
' $g(x)(y)(y) = ||y||^2 - \langle \bar{b}, y \rangle^2$

Combining (5.13) and (5.14) one obtains (5.10)(since [x-a,y] is neither 0 nor 180°). In this case F(x) defined by (5.4) is the trivial functional. In 5.5 we shall see that the Newtonian field (5.73) is g-smooth.

Proposition 5.2 (1) Any smooth function g: R²→R is completely smooth.

(2) Any smooth polinomyal g: $R^n \rightarrow R$ of (at most) second degree is completely smooth (e.g(5.9)).

Proof (1) In this case $N_x = N(g(x))$ given by (5.3) is an one dimensional subspace of R^2 . Therefore there is $r = r(x) \neq 0 (r \in R)$ such that for any $y = {y_1 \choose y_2} \in N(g(x))$ we have $y_1 = ry_2$. Taking into account (2.19) and (2.20), it follows that there is a constant $b = b(x) \in R$ such that

$$F(x)(y) = \begin{cases} b(x) y_2, & \text{if } y \in \mathbb{N}_x, y \neq 0 \\ 0, & \text{if } y = 0 \end{cases}$$

hence $y \rightarrow F(x)(y)$ is a linear functional on R^2 . The proof pf the second part is obvious since in this case $g(x)(y)(y)(y) = 0, y \in R^n$.

Remark 5.3. It would be interesting to give an example of "completely smooth" function in $R^n(n \ge 3)$, other than the smooth polinomyals of (at most) second degree.

Proposition 5.3. Let g: Ac X >R be three times differentiable on A.

- (1) If there is a g-smooth force field on A, then g is necessarly a g-smooth function.
- (2) If g is smooth, then for each $x \in D_g$, the linear continuous function $\binom{u}{s} \rightarrow I_{x}\binom{u}{s}$ from $X \times R$ into $L(X,R) \times R$ defined by

(*)
$$L_{\mathbf{x}}\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{u} \\ \mathbf{s} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{g}(\mathbf{x})(\mathbf{u}) + \mathbf{s}\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{x}) \\ \mathbf{g}(\mathbf{x})(\mathbf{u}) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{g}(\mathbf{x}) & \mathbf{g}(\mathbf{x}) \\ \mathbf{g}(\mathbf{x}) & \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{u} \\ \mathbf{s} \end{pmatrix}, \mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{X}, \mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{R}$$

is one to one.

(3) Let $X = R^n$ and g: $A \subset R^n \to R$ a smooth function.

Then for each x ∈ Dg, Lx is a bijection (i.e.one to one and surjective)

(4) For n = 2, the curvature c(x) of D_g is different from zero.

Proof.(1) This part is a direct consequence of the definitions

5.1 and 5.2.

(2) Let $u \in X$ and $s \in R$ be such that $L_X \begin{pmatrix} u \\ s \end{pmatrix} = 0$, i.e. g(x)(u)+sg(x)=0, $0 \in L(X,R)$, g(x)(u)=0 (i.e., $u \in N_X$)

Then u = 0 and consequently s = 0, too. Indeed if $u \neq 0$, then 0 = g(x)(u) $(u) + sg(x)(u) = g(x)(u)(u) \text{ and } u \in N_x \text{ contradict the hypothesis (c) of}$ Refinition 5.1.

(3) In this case L_{x} can be identified with the $(n+1) \times (n+1)$ matrix

$$(5.14)" L_{x}^{n+1} = \begin{pmatrix} g_{11} \cdots g_{1n} & g_{1} \\ g_{n1} \cdots g_{nn} & g_{n} \\ g_{1} \cdots g_{n} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

since $g(x), g(x), L(R^n, R)$ are identified with gradient, Hessian matrix and R^n respectively.

The fact that L_x^{n+1} is one to one is equivalent to det $(L_k^{n+1}) \neq 0$ (hence, to the surjectivity of L_x^{n+1})

(4) If n=2 it is easy to check that $-a_2(x)=\det(L_x^3)\neq 0$ which implies (in view of (2.22) and of $a_1(x)\neq 0$), $c(x)\neq 0$. Actually, the fact that $a_1(x)\neq 0$ ($a_2(x)\neq 0$) follows directely from hypotheses (b) and (c) (with y=g(x)) of Definition 5.1, respectively.

(see the notations (2.15) -(2.21).

5.2 A generalization of Bonnet's theorem.

As a first applications of our results we shall give an extension

of Bonnet's theorem (see e.g. [32] p.95) Given g: ACX-R, set

(5.15)
$$K_g = \{f: A \subset X \rightarrow X; f \sim "g-smooth"\}$$

and (5.1)(or equivalently,(5.2)) holds

For the statements of the results below we shall use definitions 5.1 and 5.2 and the notations (2.7) and (2.11).

Remark 5.4 If g is a completely smooth, then in view of Theorem 5.1, it follows

(5.15)'
$$K_g = \{f: A \rightarrow X \text{ is g-smooth and (5.6) holds} \}$$

The null function 0 doesn't satisfy (5.5), hence $0 \in K_g$.

Theorem 5.2 Let X be a real Banach space, A < X an open subset and g: A → R a completely smooth function. Then Kg is a convex cone (which doesn't contain the null function).

More precisely, if $f_i \in K_g$ and $b_i > 0$, $i = 1, ..., m with <math>\sum_{i=1}^{m} b_i^2 > 0$ Then f given by $(5.16) \quad f = \sum_{i=1}^{m} b_i f_i$

belongs to Kg, too.

Moreover, if $x \in D_g$ and v = v(x) is such that $(x,v) \in M_{D_g}$ (given by (2.12) with f defined by (5.16), then for each i=1,..., m there is v_i having the properties

(5.18)
$$(x,y_i) \in M_{D_g}^i$$
, $v^2 = \sum_{i=1}^m b_i v_i^2$.

Here we denoted by $M_{D_g}^i$ the subset M_{D_g} corresponding to f_i , i.e.

(5.19)
$$M_{D_{g}}^{i} = \left\{ (x,y) \in A \times X; \ g(x) = 0, \dot{g}(x)(y) = 0, \dot{g}(x)(y)(y) + \dot{g}(x)(f_{i}(x)) = 0 \right\}.$$

Proof of Theorem 5.2. Since f_i are g-smooth, then obviously f given by (5.16) is g-smooth, too. The fact that $f_i \in K_g$ given by (5.15), means also that for each $x \in D_g$, there is $a_i = a_i(x) \in R$ such that

(5.20)
$$-w_{i}(x) F(x) + 2g(x)(f_{i}(x)) + w_{i}(x) = a_{i}g(x), x \in D_{g}$$

where (similarly to (2.11)).

(5.21)
$$W_{i}(x) = g(x)(f_{i}(x)), x \in A(hence \sum_{i=1}^{m} b_{i}w_{i}(x) = w(x))$$

Multiplying (5.20) by b_i and then summing up over 1 to m we get (5.6) with f given by (5.16) and $a = \sum_{i=1}^{m} b_i a_i$.

To prove the last assertion of the theorem let $x \in D_g$ and $v \in X$ be such that $(x,v) \in M_{D_g}$. The existence of such that v is shown in Remark 5.2. Consequently

(5.22)
$$g(x) = 0, \dot{g}(x)(v) = 0, \dot{g}(x)(v)(v) + \dot{g}(x)(f(x)) = 0$$

with f given by (2.16) (therefore w(x) = g(x)(f(x))

It is easy to check that v; given by

$$\mathbf{v_i} = \mp \left(\frac{\mathbf{w_i(x)}}{\mathbf{w(x)}}\right)^{1/2} \mathbf{v}$$

has the property that $(x, v_i) \in M_D^i$.

Note that $f \in K_g$ implies $w(x) \neq 0$ (according to (5.5)) and then $v \neq 0$ (by (5.22)).

In view of (5.23) we have $b_i v_i^2 = \frac{b_i w_i(x)}{w(x)} v^2$ which implies (5.18) (using (5.21).

We now give (in terms of Dynamics) a consequence of Theorem 5.2.

Corollary 5.1 Let $X = R^2$ and $g: A \subset R^2 \to R$ a completely smooth function. If the orbit D_g can be described in each g-smooth field of force $f_i, i=1, \ldots, m$, the velocity of any point P of the orbit being v_i , then the same orbit can be described in the field of force $f = \sum_{i=1}^{m} b_i f_i$ ($b_i > 0$, $\sum_{i=1}^{m} b_i^2 \neq 0$), the velocity v of P (in the field of force f) being

$$(5.24)$$
 $v^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{m} b_i v_i^2$

Proof.In view of Theorems 5.2, the only fact we have to prove is (5.24).Let v_i be as in the statement of the corollary.In our framework this means (see e.g.Theorem 2.2 and the explanation (5.2)) $(x,v_i)\in \mathbb{M}_D^i$ and $(x,v)\in \mathbb{M}_D$, where x is the vector position of P.Therefore v_i and $v\in N(\dot{g}(x))$ given by (5.3).In this case (i.e. $X=R^2$) $N(\dot{g}(x))$ is a subspace of R^2 of one dimension, hence v_i and v are parallel vectors.Consequently, there is $d_i\in R$ such that $v_i=d_iv.$ Combining (5.22) and (5.25) below

(5.25) $\ddot{g}(x)(v_i)(v_i)+\dot{g}(x)(f_i(x)) = 0$ one obtains at once $d_i^2 = \frac{w_i(x)}{w(x)}$ (i.e.(5.23)) which implies (arguing as for (5.18))(5.24).

Remark 5.5 In the case $b_i = 1, i=1, \dots, m$. Corollary 5.1 is the Bonnet's theorem (under the form presented in [32] p.95)

5.3. Determination of the field of force under which a given orbit can be described.

In this subsection we are concerned with the solution of the following problem (call it (P)).

(P) Given a curve $D_g = \{x \in A \subset R^2, g(x) = 0\}$ (with g completely smooth, find all (g-smooth) force field f: $A \subset R^2 \to R^2$ with the property that for each $x \in D_g$, there is $v = v(x, f) \in R^2$, such that a mass particle projected from x with the speed v, describes (under the action of f) an orbit which lies in D_g .

In our framework, the solution of the problem (P) consists in the determination of all elements f of $K_{\rm g}$ given by (5.15).

Remark 5.6. Given a function $f: A \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^2$, denote by f/D_g the restriction of f to D_g . Let $f \in K_g$. If $f_1: A \subset X \rightarrow X$ is g-smooth and $f_1/D_g = f/D_g$, then $f_1 \in K_g$, too. This fact follows from Theorem 2.7 (or Theorem 2.8). Therefore, we are interested to determine merely the restrictions (of elements of K_g) to D_g . When there is now danger of confusion we denote f/D_g by f, too (for the simplicity of writing).

With the notatations of \$2\$ and

(5.26)
$$B = \begin{pmatrix} -g_{22} & g_{21} \\ g_{11} & -g_{11} \end{pmatrix}$$

we give the following solution to (P).

Theorem 5.3 Let g: $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be completely-smooth (1) If $f \in K_g$, then its restriction (denoted by f, too) to K_g satisfies the system

(5.27)
$$\begin{cases} (g_{11}g_2 - g_{21}g_1)f^1(x) + (g_{21}g_2 - g_{22}g_1)f^2(x) = \frac{1}{2}(w_2g_1 - w_1g_2) + \frac{1}{2}\frac{a_3w(x)}{a_2} \\ g_1f^1 + g_2f^2 = w(x) \end{cases}$$

for each x ∈ Dg.

that

(2) The solution of (5.26) can be written under the following three equivalent forms:

(5.28)
$$f(x) = -\frac{w(x)}{a_2} B \dot{g}(x) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{a_3 w(x)}{a_2^2} \dot{g}(x) - \frac{1}{2a_2} \langle \dot{w}(x), \dot{g}(x) \rangle \dot{g}(x)$$

(5.28)
$$f(x) = -\frac{w(x)}{a_2} \dot{g}(x) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{a_3 w(x)}{a_2^2} \dot{g}(x) - \frac{a_1}{2a_2} \dot{w}(x) + \frac{\dot{w}(x) \cdot \dot{g}(x)}{2a_2} \dot{g}(x)$$

(5.28)"
$$f(x) = z(x)B \dot{g}(x) + \frac{1}{2} ||\dot{g}(x)||^2 \dot{z}(x) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \dot{z}(x), \dot{g}(x) \rangle \dot{g}(x)$$

where z: $A \rightarrow R$ is a differentiable function and z(x) > 0 for all $x \in D_g$.

(3) Conversely, if w: $A \rightarrow R$ and $z: A \rightarrow R$ are differentiable function such

(5.29) $a_2 \cdot w(x) < 0, z(x) > 0, \forall x \in D_g$

().2) a₂. w(x) (0,2(x)) 0, 1 xe b

and f given (5.28), (5.28) or (5.28) is locally Lipschitz, then this fex

(4) In particular, if in addition to the above hypotheses, we assume that $w,z \in C^2(A,R)$ and $g \in C^4(A,R)$, then f given by (5.28)-(5.28)" belongs to K_g , therefore K_g is nonempty.

Proof.(1) The first part of the theorem is a consequence of Theorem 2.8.

(2) If in the system (5.27), w is regarded as a parameter function, then solving this elementary system we get easily (5.28).

(First all, one observes that the determinat of the system is just a and that (2.30) holds).

Since $y = g(x) \in N_x$ (given by (5.3)) and $a_2 = g(x)(g(x))(g(x))$, then (5.5) implies the first inequality of (5.29).

To prove that the form (5.28) of f is equivalent to that given by (5.28) let us observe that for each fixed $x \in D_g$, there exist a(x), $b(x) \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\hat{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{x}) \, \hat{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x}) + \mathbf{b}(\mathbf{x}) \, \hat{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})^{\perp}$$

Namely

$$a(x) = \frac{1}{a_1} \langle \dot{w}(x), \dot{g}(x) \rangle$$
, $b(x) = \frac{1}{a_1} \langle \dot{w}(x), \dot{g}(x)^{\perp} \rangle$

where (2.18) has been used, as well as $\langle g(x), g(x) \rangle = 0$ Consequently

$$(5.30) \langle \dot{w}(x), \dot{g}(x) \rangle \dot{g}(x) = a_1 \dot{w}(x) - \langle \dot{w}(x), \dot{g}(x) \rangle \dot{g}(x)$$

which shows the equivalence of (5.28) and (5.28). We now prove the equivalence of (5.28)" and (5.28). Set

(5.31)
$$z(x) = -\frac{w(x)}{a_2}, x \in D_g$$

Since we have already proved the first inequality of (5.29), it follows that z(x) > 0, $x \in D_g$.

Let us prove that the derivative of $a_2 = a_2(x)$ in the direction $g(x)^{\perp}$ is just a_3 , i.e.

$$(5.32) \langle \hat{a}_2(x), \hat{g}(x)^t \rangle = \hat{g}(x) (\hat{g}(x)^t) (\hat{g}(x)^t) (\hat{g}(x)^t) = a_3$$

Indeed, since $a_2(x) = \ddot{g}(x)(\dot{g}(x))(\dot{g}(x))$ and

$$(5.33) \langle \dot{g}(x) (\dot{g}(x)), (\dot{g}(x)) (\dot{g}(x)) \rangle = 0$$

(which we shall prove below)

we have

$$\langle a_2(x), g(x) \rangle = a_3 + 2 \langle g(x) (g(x)), (g(x)) \rangle = a_3$$

We have to prove (5.33). Indeed, since

$$\dot{g}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} g_1 \\ g_2 \end{pmatrix}, \dot{g}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} g_2 \\ -g_1 \end{pmatrix}$$

it follows

$$\ddot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})(\dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})') = \begin{pmatrix} \dot{\mathbf{g}}_{1}(\mathbf{x})(\dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})') \\ \dot{\mathbf{g}}_{2}(\mathbf{x})(\dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})') \end{pmatrix}, \quad (\ddot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x}))'(\dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})') \neq \begin{pmatrix} \dot{\mathbf{g}}_{2}(\mathbf{x})(\dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})) \\ -\dot{\mathbf{g}}_{1}(\mathbf{x})(\dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x})) \end{pmatrix}$$

which yield us to (5.32).

Furthermore, by (5.31) we see that

$$(5.34) \langle \dot{w}(x), \dot{g}(x) \rangle = -z(x) \langle \dot{a}_2(x), \dot{g}(x) \rangle -a_2(x) \langle \dot{z}(x), \dot{g}(x) \rangle$$

Using (5.30) (with z(x) instead of w(x)) and (5.31), (5.34) gives

$$(5.35) \langle \dot{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbf{x}), \dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle \dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x}) = -\mathbf{a}_3 \mathbf{z}(\mathbf{x}) \dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x}) - \mathbf{a}_2(\mathbf{x}) \mathbf{a}_1(\mathbf{x}) \dot{\mathbf{z}}(\mathbf{x}) + \mathbf{a}_2(\mathbf{x}) \langle \dot{\mathbf{z}}(\mathbf{x}), \dot{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle$$

g(x)

In view of (5.35) and (5.31), it is easy to check that (5.28) is equivalent to (5.28)".

(3) Let w and z be differentiable on A real-valued functions, satisfying (5.29) and f given by (5.28). With an elemetary calculus we verify that

$$(5.36) \langle B g(x), g(x) \rangle = -a_2(x)$$
.

Therefore, if f is given by (5.28)(or(5.28)") it follows

$$(5.37) \langle g(x), f(x) \rangle = w(x), \langle g(x), f(x) \rangle = -a_2(x)z(x)$$

respectively.

Inasmuch as $X = R^2$, any $y \in N_x$ is parallel to $g(x)^{-1}$, hence (5.37) and (5.29) imply (5.5). Thus, if f given by (5.28) is locally Lipschitz too then it is a g-smooth force field.

The fact that the (unique) solution of (5.27) is given by (5.28), means that for every was above, f given by (5.28) satisfies (5.27) and

therefore (according to Remark 5.6), we may conclude that this $f \in K_g$. (4) In these hypotheses, f given by (5.28) is of class $C^1(A,R)$ and consequently it is locally Lipschitz. According to (3) it follows that $f \in K_g$.

Remark 5.6 (1) The solution (5.28)" of the problem (P) is essentially due to Dainelli [8] (see.also[32,p.96])

(2) In the case of a general (real) Banach space X, given g:A ⊂ X → R completely smooth, then in view of Theorem 5.1, the elements f of Kg are given by the g-smooth solutions of the system

(5.38)
$$\begin{cases} \dot{g}(x)(f(x)) - \frac{a(x)}{2} \dot{g}(x) = \frac{w(x)}{2} F(x) - \frac{\dot{w}(x)}{2} \\ \dot{g}(x)(f(x)) = w(x) \end{cases}, x \in D_g$$

If w is regarded as a parameter function, then the unknowns of (5.38) are the vector f and the real valued function a = a(x). Using Proposition 5.3, we conclude that (at least) in the case $X = \mathbb{R}^n(5.38)$ admits an unique solution. Indeed, in this case the matrix of (5.38) is just the nonsingular matrix $L_X^{n+1}(\sec{(5.14)})$. If $g \in C^4(A, \mathbb{R})$ is completely smooth and $w \in C^2(A, \mathbb{R})$ satisfies

w(x)g(x)(y)(y) < 0, $\forall y \in N(g(x))$ then the solution $(f^1, ..., f^n) \in K_g$. Therefore, in the above conditions on g the set K_g is always nonempty. The formula (5.28) can be derived via the system (5.38), too.

5.4. Uniform motions

Throught this subsection, X is a real Hilbert space H of inner product<, > and norm | . | .

Corollary 5.2 In the case of the sphere

(5.39)
$$S(r) = \{x \in H, ||x|| = r\}, r > 0$$

the subset given by (2.12), becomes

(5.40)
$$M_{S(r)} = \{(x,y) \in A \times H, ||x|| = r, \langle x,y \rangle = 0, ||y||^2 + \langle x,f(x) \rangle = 0 \}$$

<u>Proof</u>. In the case $S(r) = D_g$, with

(5.41)
$$g(x) = \frac{1}{2} (\|x\|^2 - r^2)$$

For z = f(x) Corollary 3.3 and (2.12) give (5.40). Another proof of (5.40) can be found in [21].

Corollary 5.3 Let ACH be an open subset with S(r) CA. Assume that f: A>H is locally Lipschitz and in addition satisfies the properties

(i)
$$\langle x, f(x) \rangle < 0, \forall x \in S(r)$$

(ii)
$$w(x) = \langle x, f(x) \rangle$$
 is differentiable on A.

Then S(r) is a flow-invariant set for (2.4) iff

(5.42)
$$2\langle f(x), y \rangle + \dot{w}(x)(y) = 0, \forall (x,y) \in M_{S(r)}$$

Proof. This result is a direct consequence of Theorem 2.7. Indeed, taking into account (3.46), (2.13) becomes (5.42).

Definition 5.1 We say that the motions on S(r) are uniform, if there is a constant k = k(f) > 0, such that each S(r)-valued solution u of (2.4) satisfies:

$$(5.43) \| u^*(t) \| = k, k > 0, t > 0$$

We now give a characterization of the locally Lipschitz force field on S(r), under the action of which the motions ("without friction") on S(r) are uniform.

Theorem 5.4 Let f: $S(r) \rightarrow H$ be a Lipschitz function such that $\langle x, f(x) \rangle \langle 0, + x \in S(r)$

The necessary and sufficient conditions in order for S(r) to be a flow-invariant set for (2.4) and the motions on S(r) be uniform are the following

$$(i)\langle x, f(x) \rangle = -k^2, \forall x \in S(r)$$

where k = k(r) is a (positive) constant independent of $x \in S(r)$

(ii)
$$\langle f(x), y \rangle = 0$$

for all (x,y) with ||x|| = r, and $\langle x,y \rangle = 0$

Remark 5.7 Under differentiability assumption on $x \to \langle x, f(x) \rangle$ on ADS(r), this theorem can be derived from Corollary 5.3.0 therwise it requires a special proof. The proof which we shall give here makes use (directly) of Theorem 2.4. Note that Theorem 2.4 remains valid and in the case in which f is defined merely on D (see also Remark 1.1). In this case, in (2.5) we have to consider only $x \in D$, and (2.6) is a necessary and sufficient condition of the existence of the solution of (2.4) for each initial condition $(u(o), u'(o)) \in M_D$. Thus, in this case the problem of flow-invariance of D is a problem of existence. In such a way Theorem 5.4 must be understood (with D = S(r)). Moreover, in this case D = S(r), any solution of (2.4) with f: $D \to H$ Lipschitz, is defined on the whole $[0,+\infty)$.

Proof of Theorem 5.4 The necessity.Let $x \in S(r)$ and $\overline{y} \in H$ be such that $\langle x, \overline{y} \rangle = 0$ and $\|\overline{y}\| = 1$. Then with $y = (-\langle x, f(x) \rangle)^{1/2} \overline{y}$, it follows $(x, y) \in \mathbb{N}_{S(r)}$. In view of the above remark, the flow-invariance of S(r) means the existence of a S(r)-valued solution for each initial conditions $(u(o), u'(o)) \in \mathbb{N}_{S(r)}$. Denote by u = u(t, x, y) the solution of (2.4) with u(o) = x, u'(o) = y. According to (5.43) and to $\langle x, f(x) \rangle = -\|y\|^2$ we get (i) (since $\|y\| = \|u'(o)\| = k$).

Therefore, MS(r) can be written under the form

(5.44)
$$M_{S(r)} = \{(x,y) \in S(r) \times H, ||x|| = r, ||y|| = k, \langle x,y \rangle = 0\}$$

and (2.6) holds for each $(x,y) \in M_{S(r)}$.

According to Lemma 3.3, there exist $r_j(h) \in H$, with $r_j(h) \rightarrow 0$ as $h \neq 0$ (j= =1,2) such that

(5.45) $(x+h(y+r_1(h)),y+h(f(x)+r_2(h))) \in M_{S(r)}$

Consequently, $\|y+h(f(x)+r_2(h))\|^2 = k^2$, ($\|y\|=k$) for all 0 < h, which yields (ii).

The sufficiency. We now assume that (i) and (ii) holds. First of all

(i) implies the form $(5.44)(\text{of }M_{S(r)} \text{ given by } (5.40))$. For any solution u of (2.4) we have $(u(t),u(t))\in M_{S(r)}$ (Theorem 2.2), therefore (5.43) holds. Therefore, it remains to prove the existence of the solution, i.e. to verify that (i) and (ii) implies (2.6). Using once again Lemma 3.3, we have to prove the existence of $r_j(h)$ sytisfying (5.45) (for each $(x,y)\in M_{S(r)}$).

Claim that for $(x,y) \in M_{S(r)}$, r, defined by

(5.46)
$$\tilde{x} = x + hy + hr_1(h) = \frac{r(x+hy)}{x+hy/l}, \tilde{y} = y + hf(x) + hr_2(h) = \frac{k(y+hf(x))}{||y+hf(x)||}$$

satisfies (5.45).

Indeed, $(x,y) \in M_{S(r)}$ and (ii) implies $\langle x+hy,y+hf(x) \rangle = 0$, and consequently $\langle x,y \rangle = 0$. Since $\|\tilde{x}\| = r$, $\|\tilde{y}\| = k$ it remains to prove that $r_j(h) \to 0$ as $h \downarrow 0$.

Inasmuch as $(x,y) \in M_{S(r)}$ and (f(x),y) = 0, with an elemetary calculus, from (5.46) we get

$$|| r_{1}(h)|| = \frac{1}{h} |r - ||x + hy|| = \frac{|r^{2} - ||x + hy||^{2}|}{h(r + ||x + hy||)} = \frac{h ||y||^{2}}{r + ||x + hy||}$$

$$|| r_{2}(h)|| = \frac{h ||f(x)||^{2}}{k + ||y + hf(x)||}$$

which shows clearly that $r_j(h) \rightarrow 0$ as $h \not \mid 0$, j = 1,2. The proof is complete (Now let us show briefly how Theorem 5.4 explains the launching of an Earth's satellite in a circular orbit (when the oblateness of the Earth, air resistence, the attraction of other celestial bodies, a.s.o. are neglected).

In this case f is the Newtonian gravitational field i.e.

(5.47)
$$f(x) = -GM \frac{x}{||x||}$$

where GM > 0, is the power of the force center,

 $S(r) \subset R^3$ is the sphere of radions r about Earth's center 0 (as the force center)) and $r = R + r_0$ ($r_0 > 0$, R - the radius of the Earth).

The bequation of motion is supposed to be (2.4) with f given by (5.47) As a corollary of Theorem 5.4 we obtain at once the following classical result of flight space.

Corollary 5.4 If a body is projected from the point x_0 at a distance $y = R + r_0$ from the Earth's center, with the speed y_0 (parallel to the Earth's surface) of magnitude

$$(5.47)' \|y_0\| = \sqrt{\frac{GM}{R+r_0}}$$

then the body describes (uniformly) the circle

$$C(r) = P(x_0, y_0) / S(R+r_0),$$

where $P(x_0, y_0)$ is the plane spanned by the vectors x_0 and y_0 . Proof. In this case we have

$$\langle x, f(x) \rangle = -\frac{GM}{r}$$
, $\forall x \text{ with } ||x|| = r = R+r_0$,

therefore the condition (i) of Theorem 5.4 holds with $k^2 = \frac{GM}{r}$. Obviously, $(x_0,y_0) \in M_{C(r)}$ given by (5.44). Since (ii) is clearly satisfied, it follows that C(r) is a flow-invariant set, which concludes the proof.

Other applications of this type will be given in the sequel.

5.5. The invariance of the conic in Newtonian field.

We shall apply Theorem 2.8 in the case of the conic

(5.48)
$$C = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2; |x = \bar{a}|^2 - ((\bar{b}, x = \bar{a}) + \bar{d})^2 = 0\},$$

where $\bar{a}, \bar{b} \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $\bar{d} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\bar{d} \neq 0$, \bar{a} as one of the foci.

In this case $C = D_g$ with g given by (5.9). A general result on C is given by Proposition 5.1. First of all we shall discuss (2.24) for each particular conic and f given by (5.47) and then we shall verify (2.13). We have already considered the circle C(r) in Corollary 5.4.

5.5.1 Elliptic orbit

Let us consider the ellipse

(5.49)
$$E = \left\{ x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2, \quad \frac{(x_1 + c)^2}{a^2} + \frac{x_2^2}{b^2} - 1 = 0 \right\}$$

where the rectangular axes are taken through one of the foci, 2 a (resp. 2 b) is major (minor) axis and $a^2-b^2=c^2$.

Denote by O the intersection of axes and

(5.50)
$$g(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{(x_1 + c)^2}{a^2} + \frac{x_2^2}{b^2} - 1 \right)$$
, (hence $D_g = E$).

Lemma 5.1 (1) Let $A = R^2 - \{0\}$. With f given by (5.47)(2.24) and (2.11) become respectively

(5.51)
$$M_E = \left\{ (x,y) \in E \times R^2, \frac{(x_1+c)y_1}{a^2} + \frac{x_2y_2}{b^2} = 0, y_1^2 + y_2^2 = GM(\frac{2}{r} - \frac{1}{a}) \right\}$$

where y_1, y_2 are the coordinates of y and $r = (x_1^2 + x_2^2)^{1/2} = |x_1| < 2a$

(5.52)
$$w(x) = g(x)(f(x)) = -\frac{GM}{ar^2}, x \in E.$$

Proof. It is easy to check that

(5.53)
$$r = \frac{1}{a} (b^2 - cx_1), a(r-a) = -c(x_1 + c), x \in E$$

In this case (with the notations (2.15)-(2.22),

(5.54)
$$g_1(x) = \frac{x_1+c}{a^2}$$
, $g_2(x) = \frac{x_2}{b^2}$, $g_{11} = \frac{1}{a^2}$, $g_{22} = \frac{1}{b^2}$, $g_{12} = 0$

and therefore

(5.55)
$$a_1(x) = \frac{1}{a^2b^2} (2ar-r^2), a_2(x) = \frac{1}{a^2b^2}, x \in E$$

Finally

(5.56)
$$g(x)(f(x)) = -\frac{GM}{r^3} \left(\frac{x_1(x_1+c)}{a^2} + \frac{x_2^2}{b^2} \right) = -\frac{GM}{ar^2}, x \in E$$

Combining (5.54), (5.55) (5.56) (2.22) and (2.24) one obtains (5.51).

5.5.2 Hiperbolic orbit

If we take

(5.57)
$$g(x) = \frac{1}{2}(-\frac{x_1+c}{a^2} + \frac{x_2^2}{b^2} + 1), x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

then Dg is the hyperbola

(5.58)
$$H = \left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 - \left\{0\right\}, \frac{\left(x_1 + c\right)^2}{a^2} - \frac{x^2}{b^2} - 1 = 0\right\}.$$

where the rectangular axes are taken through one of the foci, 0(0,0) and

(5.59)
$$v = ||x|| = \frac{1}{a} |b^2 + cx_1|, x \in H, c^2 = a^2 + b^2$$

It is necessary to consider the following two cases (for A)

(5.60)
$$A_1 = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^2 - \{0\}, x_1 > -\frac{b^2}{c} \right\}$$

(5.61)
$$A_2 = \left\{ x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^2 , x_1 < -\frac{b^2}{c} \right\}$$

Denote by $H_i = H / A_i$ the branch of H contained in A_i , i=1,2.

Obviously 0 is regarded as the center of the force field (5.47) and H_1 is the branch of H around this center.

We shall prove (in 5.5.3) that H_1 is a flow-invariant set under f given by (5.47), while H_2 has this property under "repulsive" field (of center 0),

(5.62)
$$\bar{f}(x) = GM \frac{x}{\|x\|^3}, x \in A_2$$

this type of field (5.62)(of the inverse square repulsion $K/\mu x\mu^2$, K>0 per unit mass) is useful in physics in connection with the bombardament of atoms by α - particles.

<u>Lemma 5.2 (1) With f given by (5.47) and Dg= H1, (2.24) and (2.11), become respectively</u>

(5.63)
$$M_{H_1} = \left\{ (x,y) \in H_1 \times \mathbb{R}^2, \frac{y_1(x_1+c)}{a^2} - \frac{y_2x_2}{b^2} = 0, y_1^2 + y_2^2 = GM(\frac{2}{r} + \frac{1}{a}) \right\}$$

(5.64)
$$g(x)(f(x)) = -\frac{GM}{a^2r^3} (b^2 + cx_1) = -\frac{GM}{ar^2}, x \in H_1 = H \cap A_1$$

(2) In the repulsive case (5.62) and Dg = H2,

(5.65)
$$M_{H_2} = \left\{ (x,y) \in H_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2, \frac{y_1(x_1+c)}{a^2} - \frac{y_2x_2}{b^2} = 0, y_1^2 + y_2^2 = GM(\frac{1}{a} - \frac{2}{r}) \right\}$$

$$(5.66) \dot{g}(x)(\bar{f}(x)) = \frac{GM}{2r^3}(b^2+cx_1) = -\frac{GM}{ar^2}, x \in H_2 = H \cap A_2.$$

Proof.(1)First of all, in this case

(5.67)
$$r = \frac{1}{a}(b^2 + cx_1), a(a+r) = c(c+x_1), x \in H_1$$

 $g_1(x) = -\frac{x_1+c}{a^2}, g_2(x) = \frac{x_2}{b^2},$

and (5.64) follows at once. Further, by (5.67) we have (for $x \in H_1$)

(5.68)
$$a_1(x) = g_1^2 + g_2^2 = \frac{(x_1 + c)^2}{a^4} + \frac{x_2^2}{b^4} = \frac{1}{a^4 b^2} (c^2(x_1 + c)^2 - a^4) = \frac{1}{a^2 b^2} (r^2 + 2ar)$$

$$(5.68)!$$
 $a_2(x) = \frac{1}{a^2b^2}$

which yield (5.63).

(2) In this case $b^2 + cx_1 < 0$, therefore (5.59) gives

(5.69)
$$r = -\frac{1}{a} (b^2 + cx_1) (hence a(a-r) = -c(c+x_1)), x \in H_2$$

Therefore

$$a_1(x) = \frac{1}{a^4b^2} \left[c^2(x_1+c)^2 - a^4 \right] = \frac{1}{a^2b^2} (r^2 - 2ar), x \in H_2$$

while a is given by (5.68)', too-

According to (5.69) we get easily (5.66). Replacing a_{1}, a_{2} and $g(x)(\bar{f}(x))$ in (2.24), (5.65) follows.

5.5.3 Parabolic orbit

Denote by P the parabola

(5.70)
$$P = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^2, \ x_2^2 = p^2 + 2p \ x_1 \right\}$$

where p is the distance from the focus 0 (as the origin of the rectangular axes) to the directrix.

Clearly P = Dg with

$$g(x) = \frac{1}{2}(x_2^2 - 2px_1 - p^2)$$

Using the elementary fact that in this case

$$r = (|x|| = p+x_1, \text{ if } x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} \in P$$

we get immediately (for f given by (5.47))

(5.71)
$$\dot{g}(x)(f(x)) = -GM p/r^2$$
, $a_1 = 2pr$, $a_2 = p^2$

In view of (5.71), (2.24) becomes

(5.72)
$$M_P = \{(x,y) \in P \times R^2; py_1 = x_2y_2 \cdot y_1^2 + y_2^2 = \frac{2GM}{r} \}$$

The speed y of a mass particle (at the point $x \in P$) such that $(x,y) \in M_P$ (therefore having the magnitude $y^2 = 2GM/r$, r = ||x||) is so called "the velocity of escape from the force center" (cf.McCuskey [13] p.27). The speed appearing in ((5.51),(5.63) and (5.72) is discussed also in [15] p.28,29 and in [32],p.88.

5.5.4 Flow-invariance of the conic.

The general equation of the conic C is given by (5.48). We now are able to prove (via flow-invariance method) the following result.

Theorem 5.5 (1) Any conic C is a flow-invariant set for the equation (2.4) with

(5.73)
$$f(x) = -GM \frac{x-\bar{a}}{||x-\bar{a}||^3}, x \neq \bar{a}$$

where in the case of hyperbola, $C = H_1$ (i.e. the branch around the focus a as the center of the attractive field (5.73)).

(2) The other branch H₂ of the hyperbola is flow-invariant for (2.4) with the repulsive field

(5.74)
$$f(x) = GM \frac{x-a}{|x-a|} \cdot x \neq a$$

where GM is the power of the force center a.

Proof. We apply Theorem 2.8.We have already seen that in this case $^{M}_{D_g}$ (with g given by (5.9)) is non $^{\uparrow}_{empty}$ (actually, that (2.23) holds). This fact is proved by (5.40)(or 5.44),(5.51),(5.63),(5.65) and (5.72).

emains to verify (2.25) or equivalently (2.13). In this case g(x) =and f is differentiable on $R^2 - \{\bar{a}\}$, therefore, (2.13) becomes

and f is differentiable on
$$R = \{a\}$$
,
and f is differentiable on $R = \{a\}$,
$$3\ddot{g}(x)(f(x))(y)+\dot{g}(x)(f(x))(y) = 0, \text{ for all } (x,y) \text{ with } g(x) = 0$$

$$= 0, \dot{g}(x)(y) = 0$$

$$= 0, \dot{g}(x)(y) = 0$$

$$= 0, \dot{g}(x)(y) = 0$$

leed, in this case the derivative of w given (by(2.11)) in the diction y is the following one

y is the following:

$$\dot{y}(x)(y) = \dot{g}(x)(f(x))(y) + \dot{g}(x)(f(x)(y))$$
.

and N(g(x)) defined by (5.3) is a subspace of one dimension). Let us bserve that the derivative of the function

the derivative
$$h(x) = ||x-\bar{a}||, x \in \mathbb{R}^2, x \neq \bar{a} \text{ is just}$$

$$h(x)(y) = \langle \frac{x-\bar{a}, y}{||x-\bar{a}||}$$

Tsing this remark as well as (5.11), (5.12) and (5.13), we have succesively

$$f(x)(y) = -\frac{GH}{\|x-\bar{a}\|^3} + \frac{3GH(x-\bar{a},y)}{\|x-\bar{a}\|^3}(x-\bar{a}),$$

where we have also used

we have also assume
$$g(x)(x-\tilde{a}) = d(d+\langle \tilde{b}, x-\tilde{a} \rangle), \forall x \in C$$

Since g(x)(y) = 0 gives,

$$g(x)(y) = 0$$
 $g(x)(y) = 0$ $g(x)(y) = 0$

I becomes,
$$I = -\frac{3GM}{1|x-\bar{a}|^5} \left[|x-\bar{a}|^2 \left(\bar{b}, y \right) - \left(x-\bar{a}, y \right) \left(d + \left(\bar{b}, x-\bar{a} \right) \right) \right] = \frac{3GM}{|x-\bar{a}|^5} \left(d + \frac{3GM}{1} - \frac{3GM}{1} - \frac{3GM}{1} - \frac{3GM}{1} \right)$$

for g(x) = 0 and $\dot{g}(x)(y) = 0$, hence (5.75) holds for f given by (5.73). Since $\dot{f} = -f$, the proof is complete.

5.5.5 Central force field

Recall that $f: A \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^3$ (see 5.1) is said to be a "central force field" of center 0 if for each vector position $x \in A$, the force f(x) (associated with x) acts along the vector which joind 0 with x. The central force field is said to be "attractive" ("repulsive") if for each $x \in A$, the vector force f(x) is directed toward or away from 0, respectively.

In terms of dynamics, Theorem 5.5. asserts that a body P projected from a point x C with a velocity y such that $(x,y) \in M_C$ (given by (5.51) (a.s.o) describes (under the action of the field (5.73)) the orbit C. Or, in Dynamics it is known much more, namely the following famous result holds:

Theorem 5.6 (1) A mass particle Q moving under a central field of force describes on orbit which lies in a plane.

- (2) If Q describes the conic C with constant areal velocity, then the force acting on it varies inversely as the square of the distance from Q to the focus ā of C.
- (3) Conversely, if Q is projected from any point $x \in C$ with the speed y such that $(x,y) \in M_C$ given by (5.44) (with $k = \sqrt{\frac{GM}{r}}, r = ||x||)$, (5.51) a.s. o., describes (under the action of f (5.73) or (5.74)), the conic C with constant areal velocity (relative to the focus \tilde{a} .).

In our framework (i.e. via flow-invariance method) this theorem can easily be proved as follows.

(1) Let Q move under the central force field f of center O.Denote by $x_o(\text{resp }y_o)$ the initial position (velocity) of Q and by S-the closed linear subspace of R^3 spanned by the vectors x_o and $y_o \cdot \text{If } y_o \neq 0$ and y_o is not parallel to x_o then S is a plane Totherwise S is a straight line containing $x_o \neq 0$). Let $A = R^3 - \{0\}$ and $x \in D = A \cap S$. Since f(x) acts along the vector which joins x with 0 and $x_o \in S$, it follows that f(x)

S(i.e.f(D)cS) and therefore (by Theorem 2.5) D is a flow-invariant set for (2.3). Obviously $D = \overline{D} \cap A$ (i.e. D is closed in A) since $D = S - \{0\}$ and hence $\overline{D} = S$. Inasmuch as $(x_0, y_0) \in D \times S = M_D$, in view of Theorem 2.3 the orbit u = u(t), t > 0 of Q lies in D, hence in S.

(2) For the sake of simplicity we shall make a choise, supposing e.g. that C is the Ellipse E (5.49).

Therefore let Q describe E with constant areal velocity (cf.[13] p.5), relative to the focus 0 as the origin of the rectangular axes. First of all, this implies that the force field f acting on it central, i.e. for each $x \in E$, there is $h(x) \in R$ such that

$$(5.76)$$
 $f(x) = h(x)x$

If $u = (u_1(t), u_2(t))$ is the law of motion of Q, then the constance of areal velocity (relative to the focus 0) means (cf.[13], p.6)

(5.77)
$$u_1(t)u_1(t)-u_2(t)u_1(t) = K = const, t>0$$

Since u is E-valued then $(u(t), u'(t)) \in M_E$ (Theorem 2.2) therefore

$$(5.78) \begin{cases} y_1(x_1+c)/a^2 + x_2y_2/b^2 = 0 \\ x_1y_2 - x_2y_1 = K \end{cases}$$

for all $(x,y) \in M_E$ given by (5.51), where we have denoted $x_i = u_i(t)$ and $y_i = u_i'(t), i = 1,2$.

Using some of (5.47)-(5.53) one observes that the solution (y_1,y_2) of (5.78) is the following one

$$y_1 = -\frac{aKx_2}{rh^2}$$
, $y_2 = \frac{K(X_4 + C)}{ar}$, $(r = ||x||, x \in E)$

and hence

(5.79)
$$y^2 = y_1^2 + y_2^2 = \frac{K^2}{h^2 n^2}$$
 (2ar-r²), $x \in E$.

On the other hand, by (2.24), (5.74) and (5.76) we have

(5.79)'
$$y^2 = -\frac{a_1}{a_2} \langle \dot{g}(x), f(x) \rangle = -h(x) \frac{a_1}{a_2} (g_1 x_1 + g_2 x_2) = -h(x) r (2ar-$$
for each $x \in E$.

Comparing (5.79) and (5.79) we conclude that

(5.80)
$$h(x) = -\frac{aK^2}{b} \frac{1}{r^3} (r = ||x||),$$

(3) We now assume that f is given by (5.47).If Q is projected from any point $x \in C$ as mentioned in the theorem, then Q describes under f, $S(r), E, H_1$ and P respectively (and H_2 under repulsion (5.62)). This aspect has been already proved (Theorem 5.5 as well as Corollary 5.4 in the case C = S(r)). It remains to prove that Q obeys the law of areas. (i.e. that the areal velocity relative to the focus O is constant). Indeed, the areal velocity (denote it 2K(t)) is given by

$$K(t) = u_1(t)u_2(t)-u_2(t)u_1(t)$$

as we have seen above (see (5.77)).

Working in the case of E too, (5.80) holds with $h(x) = -\frac{GM}{r}3(by(5.47))$, therefore

$$K^2(t) = -r^3 bh(x)/a = GM b/a = const$$

5.5.6 The force field under which a conic can be described

Applying Theorem 5.3 we can derive all g-smooth force field under which the conic C can be described (with g given by (5.9)

For the simplicity we shall treat this problem in the case of C(r) only, where

(5.81)
$$C(r) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2, ||x|| = r\}, r > 0.$$

The rest of discussion is left to the reader. Obviously, C(r) corresponds to D_g with

$$g(x) = \frac{1}{2} (uxu^2 - r^2) = \frac{1}{2} (x_1^2 + x_2^2 - r^2)$$

In this case g(x) = x and (5.26) becomes

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

In view of theorem 5.3 (formula (5.28)") we get

Corollary 5.5 (1) All force field under which C(r) can be described are given by

(5.82)
$$f(x) = -z(x)x + \frac{r^2}{2}\dot{z}(x) - \frac{1}{2}\langle x, \dot{z}(x) \rangle x$$

where z: R2-{0}-R is a continuously differentiable function and

$$z(x) > 0$$
 for $||x|| = r$

(2) If in addition we assume that the function z is positively homogeneous of degree $0(i.e. z(tx) = z(x), \forall t > 0)$, then for each natural number n, the sphere

$$S(r) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n, ||x|| = r\}$$

can be described under the force field

(5.83)
$$f(x) = -z(x) x + \frac{r^2}{2} \dot{z}(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^n, x \neq 0$$

Proof (1) This assertion follows directely from (5.28)", as we have already mentioned.

(1) In the case n = 2, this assertion follows from (5.82) and the Euler's theorem on continuously differentiable, positively homogeneous functions (of degree zero), namely

(5.84)
$$\langle x, \dot{z}(x) \rangle = 0$$
, $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}(\dot{z}(x) = \text{grad } z(x))$

For $n \ge 3$, we have to prove it. First of all, for f given by (5.83), the subset $M_{S(r)}$ given by (5.40) is the following one

(5.85)
$$M_{S(r)} = \{ (x,y) \in S(r) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \langle x,y \rangle = 0, ||y||^2 = r^2 z(x) \}$$

where (5.84) has been used.

We have to prove that any solution u of the equation

$$u'' = -z(u)u + \frac{r^2}{2}\dot{z}(u)$$

with $(u(o),u'(o)) \in M_{S(r)}$) is S(r)-valued (i.e. ||u(t)|| = r as long as it exists).

To do that , set

$$v(t) = \frac{1}{2} (||u(t)||^2 - r^2).$$

Using (5.85) it is easy to check that ${\bf v}$ satisfies the linear (scalar) differential equation

(5.86)
$$v'''(t) = -4z(u(t))v'(t)-2(u'(t), \dot{z}(u(t)) > v(t))$$
 and the initial conditions

$$v(0) = 0, v'(0) = \langle x, y \rangle = 0, v''(0) = ||y||^2 - r^2 z(x) = 0$$

where $u(0) = x, u'(0) = y (i.e.(x,y) \in M_{S(r)}).$

Therefore v is the trivial solution of (5.86), which implies $u(t)_{N} = r, t > 0$.

Remark 5.8 (1) The notion "S(r) can be described under f" is obviously interpreted as "S(r) is flow-invariant set for (2.4)"(see(5.1) and (5.2)).

(2) By Theorem 5.4 it follows that the motions on S(r) under force field (5.83) are uniform iff

$$\langle x, f(x) \rangle = -r^2 z(x) = -k^2 = const, \forall x \in S(r)$$

(i.e. iff f is the attractive field f(x) = -kx)

(3) According to (2.27) it follows that f given by (5.82) is the solution of the partial differential equation

(5.87)
$$3x_2f^2 - 3x_1f^2 + x_1x_2 \left(\frac{\partial f^1}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial f^2}{\partial x_2}\right) - x_1^2 \frac{\partial f^1}{\partial x_2} + x_2^2 \frac{\partial f^2}{\partial x_1} = 0$$

where
$$x_1^2 + x_2^2 = r^2$$
.

which characterizes the continuously differentiable force field $f = \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ f_2 \end{pmatrix}$ under which C(r) can be described.

6. FINAL REMARKS

1. In this paper the force field $f: A \subset X \to X$, (X a real Banach space $Y = R^n$) is supposed to depend only on the position x of the "particle" on which it acts (i.e. f = f(x)). The methos we have developed allows however to treat (at least up to a certain point) the flow-invariance of $D \subset A$ in a more general case in which f = f(x,y) i.e. f depending both on the position x and of the velocity y (of the particle on which it acts). Indeed, it is easy to check that in this case we have to put f(x,y) instead of f(x), in (2.5), in Theorem 2.4 and (after corresponding modifications) in its consequences.

In this case the speed y of "projection" from $x \in D_g$ is a solution of the system

(6.1)
$$\begin{cases} \dot{g}(x)(y)(y) + \dot{g}(x)(f(x,y)) = 0 \\ \dot{g}(x)(y) = 0 , (g: A \to \mathbb{R}^n) \end{cases}$$

Let us assume that such a solution y exists and (2,6) holds (with f(x,y) instead of f(x) and $D=D_g$). Then a body projected from $x \in D_g$ with the speed y, describes an orbit u(t) = u(t,x,y) which lies in D_g (i.e. g(u(t)) = 0, as long as u exists) Practically, an exact solution y of (6.1) is difficult to obtain. Then the problem of stability of D_g arises, namely:

Given $\xi > 0$, is there $\delta > 0$ such that if

$$\|y_0-y\|<\delta$$
, then $\|u(t,x,y_0)-u(t,x,y)\|<\epsilon$, $\forall t>0$?

In words, the stability of the orbit D_g means that given a neighborhood V of D_g (see (2.7)), if y_o is an approximate solution to (6.1) sufficiently close by the exact solution y, then a body projected from $x \in D_g$ with the speed y_o , describes (under f)an orbit which lies in V. Therefore it

would be interesting to study the problem of flow-invariance of the set $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{g}}$ with to the equation

(6.2)
$$u'' = f(u, u')$$

and then the stability of this set. The above remarks hold in the non-autonomous case f = f(t,u,u') too.

2. The (sufficient) surjectivity conditions required in the Theorem 2.6 (which is a consequence of Theorem 2.4) are not the best. This, because in some important cases, these are imposible (Namely, when $X = R^{m}$, $Y = R^{n}$, M < 2n).

Indeed, e.g. in the case $X = R^3$, $Y = R^2$, g: $A \subset X \rightarrow R^2$ is a vector function, therefore

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} g^{1} \\ g^{2} \end{pmatrix}, \dot{g}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \dot{g}^{1}(x) \\ \dot{g}^{2}(x) \end{pmatrix}, g^{1} : A \rightarrow R, \dot{g}^{1}(x) \in L(R^{3}, R)$$

Consequently, the surjectivity of $u \rightarrow (g(x)(u), g(x)(y)(u))$, is equivalent to the linear independency of the following four linear functionals $L_i: \mathbb{R}^3 \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$

$$L_{i} = \dot{g}^{i}(x), L_{i+2} = \ddot{g}^{i}(x)(y), i = 1,2.$$

Or, four (2n) linear functionals on R^3 (resp R^m , m < 2n) are always linear dependent. Therefore, another open problem is to derive a consequence of Theorem 2.4, better than Theorem 2.6, to cover the cases $X = R^m, X = R^n$ with m < 2n (not excludet by the first theorem)

3. We are also interested in the problem mentioned in Remark.5.3. 4. The conclusion of Theorem 2.4 remains valid if f is defined only on D (see Remark 5.7). In this case, to obtain its consequences (as in $\{2\}$) we have to use the directional derivatives of $x \rightarrow \mathring{g}(x)(f(x))$, e.g. in the sense of [27-29] (since the Fréchet derivative is defined on open subsets, only). We didn't investigate this (rather akward) fact, although it seems to be possible.

- 5. Does the conclusion of Theorem 2.6 hold if \mathbb{R}^n is replaced by any Banach space Y?
- 6. It would be important to study the problem of flow-invariance of a time-dependent set D = D(t). A suggestion to treat such a problem is to make use of the generalization of Theorem 2.1(of Nagumo-Brezis-Martin) to the case D = D(t) given in [24]. First of all it is necessary the adaption of the results of §3 to time dependent case D(t).

7.For constrained control problem would be important to have results on flow-invariance of D_g for (2.1) with f = f(t,u) (i.e.f -time dependent) in Carathéodory type conditions. A result in this direction has been given by C. Ursescu, but only in a general case $D \in X$ (see [17], p.190).

STATE OF THE PROPERTY OF STREET TRANSPORT

THE X SERVE ONE TRYES OF A RESPONDED THE TREE OF ANY OF ANY ANY AND AND ANY AND AND ANY AND ANY AND ANY AND ANY AND ANY AND AND ANY AND ANY AN

REFERENCES

- 1. ABRAHAM, R & J.E.MARSDEN, Foundations of Mechanics. The Benjamin Cumminys Publishing Company, Inc. 1978
- 2. BONY, J.M., Principle du maximum, inégalité de Harnak et unicité du problème du Cauchy pour les opérateurs elliptiques dégénéres. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 19, 277-304 (1969).
- 3. BOURGOUIGNON, J.P. & H.BREZIS, Remark on the Euler equation. J. Funct, Analysis, 15, 341-363 (1974).
- 4. BREZIS, H., On a characterization of flow-invariant sets. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 23, 261-263 (1970).
- 5. CARTAN, H., Calcul différential. Hermann Paris, 1967.
- 6. CLARKE, F.H.(1) Generalized gradients and applications. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 205, 247-263 (1975).
 - (2) The maximum principle under minimal hypotheses. SIAM J.Control Optimization, 14, 1078-1091 (1976).
- 6. CRANDALL, M.G., A generalization of Peano's existence theorem and flow-invariance. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 36, 151-155 (1972)
- 8. DAINELLI, U., Sul movimento per una linea qualqunque. Giornale di Mathematiche, 18, 271-300 (1880)
- 9. DEIMLING, K., Ordinary differential equation in Banach spaces. Lecture Notes in Math., 596, Springer Verlag 1977.
- 10. HARTMAN, P., On invariant sets and on a theorem of Wazewski. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 32,511-520 (1972).
- 11. LJUSTERNIK, L.A., & V.I.SOBOLEV, Elements of functional analysis (in Russian). Moscow 1965.
- 12. MARTIN R.H.Jr., Differential equations on closed subsets of a Banach space. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 179, 399-414 (1973).
- 13. McCUSKEI, S.W., Introduction to celestial Mechanics. Addison-Wesley publ. comp. INC. 1963.

- 14. NAGUMO, M., Über die Lage der Integralkurven gewöhnlicher Differentialgleichungen. Proc. Phys. Math. Soc. Japan, 24, 551-559 (1942)
- 15. PARS, L.A., Introduction to Dynamics. Cambridge 1953.
- 16. PAVEL, N. H., Second order differential equation on closed subsets of a Banach space. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital., 12,348-353 (1975).
- 17. PAVEL, N. H., Differential equations associated with nonlinear operators on Banach spaces (in Romanian). Bucharest 1977.
- 18. Pavel, N.H., Invariant sets for a class of semi-linear equations of evolutions, Nonlinear Anal., TMA, 1, 187-196 (1977)
- 19. PAVEL, N.H. & F. IACOB, Invariant sets for a class of perturbed differential equations of retarded type. Israel J. Math. Vol., 28, 254-264 (1977)
- 20. PAVEL, N.H. & M. TURINICI, Positive solutions of a system of ordinary differential equations. An. St. Univ. Iaşi, 24.63-70 (1978)
- 21. PAVEL, N. H. & C. URSESCU, Flow-invariance for higher order differential equations. An. St. Univ. Iaşi, 24, 91-100 (1978).
- 22. PAVEL, N.H. & I.I. VRABIE, Equations d'évolution multivoques dans les espaces de Banach. C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 287, 351-317 (1978).
- 23. PAVEL, N.H., & J. J. VRABIE, Semi-linear evolution equations with multivalued right hand side in Banach spaces, An. St. Univ. Iaşi, 25,136-157 (1979)
- 24. PAVEL, N.H. & J.J. VRABIE, Differential equations associated with continuous and dissipative time-dependent domain operators. Lecture Notes in Math. 727, Springer-Verlag 1979.
- 25. PRÜB, J., Thesis. Paderborn 1979.
- 26. REDHEFFER, R.M., The theorems of Bony and Brezis on flow-invariant sets. Amer. Math. Monthly, 79, 740-746 (1972).
- 27. URSESCU, C., Thesis. Iaşi, 1973.
- 28. URSESCU, C., Sur une généralization de la notion de différentiabilité. Atti Acad. Naz. Lineei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur., 54,

- 199-204 (1973).
- 29. URSESCU, C., Tangent sets and differentiable functions. Banach center publications, 1, 151-155 (1974).
- 30. YORKE, J.A., Invariance for ordinary differential equations. Math. Systems Theory, 1, 353-372 (1967)
- 31. WINTNER, A., The analytical foundations of celestial mechanics.

 Princeton 1947.
- 32. WHITTAKER, E.T., A treatise on the analytical dynamics of particles and rigid bodies. Cambridge University Press 1961.

Seminarul matematic "A.Myller"
Universitatea Iaşi, 6600.
ROMANIA